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Jerome Bru

Ten years ago Southwest Credit Union and BCU Financial, formerly Battlefords Credit Union, joined 
together with Meadow Lake Credit Union to form Innovation Credit Union. The combined assets, 
under administration, were$1.183 billion and are now $2.818 billion. There were 308 full time staff 
members and are now 359, including our insurance offices and Credential® personnel. The increase 
in digital usage by you the membership has allowed us to maintain our staff numbers and still 
service a much larger asset base.

Innovation Credit Union, through its people, has again enjoyed another successful year. The people 
I am referring to, of course, are our members, our management and our staff. We are very fortunate 
to enjoy the loyalty of our membership that continues to challenge and contribute to our success 
and the dedication of management and staff that ensure the wants and needs of our membership 
are met and often exceeded. We continue to survey the membership regarding member service 
and the level of satisfaction gets better each year.

Your Board, through planning sessions with management, provide the strategic future direction 
of Innovation Credit Union. During our planning session last May, there was direction provided to 
management to pursue the option of becoming a federally-regulated credit union. This decision 
was made regarding the future direction of your/our credit union so that we are sustainable long 
term. Future direction and sustainability have been on the radar of our planning session for at 
least the past five years and the success of the organization allows us to pursue an exciting road to 
sustainability into the future. Additional detail regarding the rationale and future direction will be 
provided in the CEO report.

Your Board supports continuous learning throughout the organization and as a result each Board 
member has completed the training and exams through the Credit Union Directors Association 
to be certified and two Board members have achieved the professional director designation. 
Because the competencies required to be an effective Board member continue to evolve, all Board 
members have been taking the necessary courses to 
enhance their skill set.

We look forward to the coming year with excitement: 
the pursuit of becoming a federally-regulated credit 
union, and the opportunity to live up to our name, our 
mission and our vision.

Thank you,

Bruce Sack, Board President

A message from
your Board President
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A message from
your Chief Executive Officer
I am proud of the steps that we have taken over the past number of years to create one of the 
strongest credit unions in Canada built solidly on maintaining our cooperative advantage. We are 
at the crossroads of an exciting period, as we are proactively taking control of our own destiny 
and becoming the first federally focused credit union headquartered in Saskatchewan.  Our 
Innovation 2020 strategic initiative will allow us to grow and diversify and bring our amazing 
value proposition to members across Canada.  

The 2017 business cycle is important for a number of reasons.  We will have opportunity to reach 
out and work closely with our members to garner their support and understanding of our chosen 
direction.  We will also continue on the path being responsive and delivering service to our 
members wherever they are and whenever they need us.  We will be enhancing our members’ 
experience by continuing to add new features and channels to our digital and mobile banking 
offering.  Annually, we ask our members to tell us how we are doing through our Net Promoter 
Score study; once again we continue to rank near the top of all financial institutions, which tells us 
to keep up the good work.

2017 will be an exciting year as we move toward building a member focused, long term, 
sustainable credit union built for future generations to come.

Thank you,

Daniel Johnson, Chief Executive Officer
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Innovation Centre 
Our locations are strategic assets owned by Innovation Credit Union 
members that need to be leveraged for maximum member benefit.  Within 
our Swift Current location, we have reconfigured the footprint to provide an 
enhanced experience through the addition of complementary businesses to 
the retail office complex.  This reconfiguration has resulted in the availability 
of approximately 5,000 square feet of premium commercial office space located on the main and third floors of Innovation Centre. 
Increasing non-interest revenue through tenant occupancy along with a reduction in overall occupancy costs within the Swift 
Current market is in line with our strategic plans for improved efficiency.   This venture also created an opportunity to re-brand the 
Swift Current facility to be renamed Innovation Centre.
Dickson Agencies is excited to be a part of the introduction of the commercial retail space within Innovation Centre.  They moved 
into the north-west corner of the building in the Spring of 2016. 
In the fall of 2016 Battlefords Agencies moved into Innovation Centre Battlefords as well.
Innovation Centre, was pleased to welcome Golden West Radio as a tenant in the fall of 2016 

Product Enhancements 
We strive to continually enhance our product offerings to better meet the needs of our members.  We were pleased to make the 
following product enhancements in 2016: 

Member Rewards
As a member-owner of Innovation Credit Union, you share in our success. Our Member Rewards program ensures you save, 
earn, and give every day! Our members have earned approximately $21.5 million over the past ten years in allocations and 
dividends. They’ve saved over $3 million by using our No-Fee Account. And they’ve helped us give over $4.8 million back to the 
communities we serve. The Member Rewards program is truly one of the best credit union rewards programs in Canada!.
We are thrilled to announce the LARGEST payout in the history of our credit union, $3.38 million (includes 4.59% cash 
dividend and $20 youth dividend)

Young Farmer Incentive
The Young Farmer Incentive Program is a comprehensive benefits package that provides 
young producers with preferred rates and room to grow. The program applies to new loans 
or loan refinancing at outside financial institutions. To qualify, producers must be aged 40 
or under.

All In One Mortgage
The All in One Mortgage gives producers the freedom to access credit both quickly and 
easily. The mortgage is pre-approved and provides members with the ability to re-advance 
funds and continually access financing as their operation grows. 
The mortgage has an initial credit limit and allows multiple term loans, lines of credit and 
quick loans to be approved within it.

No-Fee Account
We are thrilled to announce that our No-Fee Account has saved our members millions of 
dollars since we introduced it in 2014! With no service charges, no hidden costs, no fees…
even Interac e-Transfers are free.  Members are saving more money each month thanks to 
our No-Fee Account.
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Service Enhancements
We also strive to continually enhance our service delivery to better meet the needs of our members.  We were pleased to make the 
following notable service enhancements in 2016:

Mobile Advice Centre
Member acquisition was a key objective for Innovation Credit Union in 2016. 
With consumers’ demand for banking-on-the-go options, we need to offer 
unique solutions that provide our products and services to members wherever 
they are, whenever they need us. 
We are pleased to launch an innovative, state-of-the-art member experience 
solution: our Mobile Advice Centre (MAC)—another free way to bank anywhere, 
anyway, anytime. 

Open Additional Accounts
We are pleased to offer current Innovation members the ability to conveniently open additional accounts online through our 
online banking system with our Open New Account service.
Innovation members can open:

• A No-Fee Account • A Savings Account • A TFSA Savings Account
all through online banking!

Me-to-Me Transfers
We have a number of members who do not deal solely with Innovation Credit Union.  We are 
always looking for ways to gain more wallet share from these members and make it easier for 
them to transfer more business our way.  That is why we are pleased to launch the new online 
banking feature Me-to-Me (M2M) Transfer.

New Online Banking Alerts
Innovation currently has Direct Alerts through online banking, where members can stay 
informed by email, text message, or both when an online event occurs on their accounts 
including: your personal access code is changed,  a vendor is added, attempts have been 
made to access your account resulting in a lock-out, your account has been logged into, and 
an Interac e-Transfer recipient is added. 
In June, we added new alerts to our system: Small Business Alerts, Push Alerts, Immediate 
Alerts, Immediate Alerts – Event Based, Periodic Alerts, and Security Alerts.
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It’s our 10th anniversary
We are thrilled to celebrate our 10th anniversary as a credit union in 2017!  It’s a privilege to serve you.  

Thank you for your business!
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Our Company
Financial Offerings
Fitting your financial lifestyle with individualized service and a wide range of products is a commitment we take pride in at 
Innovation Credit Union. Our credit union advice centres offer banking, lending, investments, financial planning, agricultural, 
business, trust and estate services. You’ll also find general insurance products available through Battleford Agencies, Dickson 
Agencies, Meadow North Agencies, Meota Agencies and North Battleford Agencies.

Access
Innovation is Saskatchewan’s third largest credit union offering personalized banking services for individuals and businesses. With 
22 advice centres at locations across the western part of the province, Innovation Credit Union employees are available to help 
meet your financial needs. Our mobile team is willing to come to your place of business, farm, or meet with you electronically 
via video conference or phone. As well, our Credit Union Dealer Finance Corporation is available to offer onsite financing for 
vehicle and leisure craft purchases. We want to break the traditional service barriers to provide you with the exceptional service 
experience you deserve. 

Banking Options
Members at Innovation Credit Union are able to access services virtually anywhere around the world. The convenience of 
online banking is available 24 hours a day at www.innovationcu.ca. In addition, we offer automated telephone banking at 
1.800.699.9946. 
We are thrilled to offer an online banking mobile app for Apple® and Android® products!  The MemberDirect® Mobile App provides 
you with a convenient way to bank.
With Deposit Anywhere, you can quickly and securely deposit cheques with your smartphone or tablet from anywhere, day or 
night.
If you need to talk to a friendly voice, our Call Centre representatives are available extended hours from Monday to Saturday by 
calling 1.866.446.7001. They can assist with all your banking needs over the phone. Innovation Credit Union offers all of these 
services in addition to worldwide ATM access. We also offer mobile banking and a comprehensive website that includes the iChat 
feature where you can chat live with one of our account managers.

Mobile Advice Centre
We are pleased to launch an innovative, state-of-the-art member experience solution: our Mobile Advice Centre (MAC)—another 
free way to bank anywhere, anyway, anytime.
MAC will offer: Innovation rooms for your online banking needs or to virtually meet with Innovation specialists, video banking, 
Personal Teller Machine, and Automated Teller Machine
Look for MAC at a variety of events in our region. Stop by for education, demonstrations, mobile banking, ATM access…even to 
open an account!.

Wealth Services
Managing your money is an important step to securing your financial future. Our 
wealth management team offers expert financial advice to make your money work 
harder for you. Innovation Credit Union ensures our members have access to the 
highest quality of wealth management products and services in the industry. Our 
experts can help you with retirement saving, estate planning, education planning, 
business succession and retirement income.

Insurance Subsidiaries
Offering a full line of products including home, farm, auto, licensing, commercial auto, commercial property and aircraft, our 
insurance subsidiaries make your life easier by offering professional advice on all insurance products. You can count on the 
insurance professionals at Battleford Agencies, Dickson Agencies, Meadow North Agencies, Meota Agencies and North Battleford 
Agencies.

A N  I N N O VAT I O N  PA R T N E R

Meadow North Agencies
A N  I N N O VAT I O N  PA R T N E R

Meota Agencies
A N  I N N O VAT I O N  PA R T N E R

North Battleford Agencies
A N  I N N O VAT I O N  PA R T N E R

Dickson Agencies
A N  I N N O VAT I O N  PA R T N E R

Battleford Agencies
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Co-operative Principles
As a true co-operative financial institution, Innovation Credit Union acts in accordance with internationally recognized principles of co-
operation:
Voluntary and Open Membership
Co-operatives are voluntary organizations, open to all persons able to use their services and willing to accept the responsibilities of 
membership, without gender, social, racial, political or religious discrimination.
Democratic Member Control 
Co-operatives are democratic organizations controlled by their members, who actively participate in setting their policies and making 
decisions. Men and women serving as elected representatives are accountable to the membership. In primary co-operatives members 
have equal voting rights (one member, one vote) and co-operatives at other levels are also organized in a democratic manner.
Member Economic Participation 
Members contribute equitably to, and democratically control, the capital of their co-operative. At least part of that capital is usually the 
common property of the co-operative. Members usually receive limited compensation, if any, on capital subscribed as a condition of 
membership. Members allocate surpluses for any or all of the following purposes: developing their co-operative, possibly by setting up 
reserves, part of which at least would be indivisible; benefiting members in proportion to their transactions with the co-operative; and 
supporting other activities approved by the membership.
Autonomy and Independence 
Co-operatives are autonomous, self-help organizations controlled by their members. If they enter into agreements with other 
organizations, including governments, or raise capital from external sources, they do so on terms that ensure democratic control by their 
members and maintain their co-operative autonomy.
Education, Training and Information 
Co-operatives provide education and training for their members, elected representatives, managers, and employees so they can 
contribute effectively to the development of their co-operatives. They inform the general public - particularly young people and opinion 
leaders - about the nature and benefits of co-operation.
Co-operation Among Co-operatives 
Co-operatives serve their members most effectively and strengthen the co-operative movement by working together through local, 
national, regional and international structures.
Concern for Community 
Co-operatives work for the sustainable development of their communities through policies approved by their members.

Measuring Performance
Corporate planning provides the basis upon which the whole organization, from the Board of Directors to the frontline employees, 
comes together for the common purpose of delivering financial products and services to exceed our members’ expectations. 
Our Mission (or purpose) will answer “Why do we exist?” and “What are we here for?” Our Vision is our inspiring, overarching, long term 
goal.  Innovation’s Balanced Scorecard includes strategic initiatives that are supported by our divisional strategic projects and activities.
When planning and operating, Innovation is constantly assessing risk.  Risk management activities are integrated with the development 
and implementation of the strategic plan.  Key performance targets are based on active consideration of the trade-offs between risk and 
reward.
Our five strategic intent areas are:
People
Innovation staff members have pride, feel valued and are actively engaged with our members. They help us achieve our corporate 
vision while pursuing their career goals, and members’ financial goals. We are a high performance, unified culture of innovation and 
collaboration. We continue to adapt to change and our changing environment.
Business
We are an effective, responsive and efficient organization improving our internal operations through a continuous adoption of 
technology, innovation, process improvement and sound business practices.
Growth
We are a responsive and innovative financial partner to our membership. We deliver on all of their financial needs through an exceptional 
“MemberFirst” advisory experience anywhere in the world. We partner with community leaders and builders to strengthen the long‐term 
viability and sustainability of our communities.
Financial
We are a strong, successful organization through effective financial management practices. We maintain or exceed our financial and 
capital targets for long term sustainability.
Risk
We employ sound business practices that support the organizational risk appetite statement and drive our day to day decisions. We 
operate in a highly regulated industry, therefore we employ strong compliance functions which balance regulatory needs, operational 
flexibility and ingenuity.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation 

Annual Report Message
January 2017

Deposits Fully Guaranteed
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (the Corporation) is the primary regulator and deposit guarantor for Saskatchewan 
credit unions. The Corporation is charged through provincial legislation, The Credit Union Act, 1998, with the main purpose of 
guaranteeing the full repayment of deposits held in Saskatchewan credit unions. The Corporation has successfully guaranteed the 
repayment of deposits held in Saskatchewan credit unions for over 60 years. By guaranteeing deposits and promoting responsible 
governance, the Corporation contributes to confidence in Saskatchewan credit unions. 
Responding to regulatory changes at the international and national levels continued to be a key focus for the Corporation in 
2016. Federally, a shift in policy direction assigned regulation of the credit union centrals to the provinces. This resulted in the 
government of Saskatchewan creating and passing The Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan Act, 2016 assigning regulatory 
responsibilities for SaskCentral to the Corporation. In preparation for assuming these responsibilities in 2017, the Corporation 
developed regulatory policy and supervisory practices. 
At the provincial level, work was finalized on the development of liquidity standards and guidance that align with current 
international standards. As part of this development, the Standards of Sound Business Practice and Capital Standards of Sound 
Business Practice were reviewed and updated. These documents were provided to credit unions well in advance of coming into 
effect on January 1, 2017. These efforts will ensure that the Corporation is in a position to 
continue to protect credit union depositors which, in turn, contributes to the strength and 
stability of the Saskatchewan credit union system. 
In 2017 the Corporation will continue to monitor the potential implications of the changing 
regulatory environment in addition to carrying forward its preventive efforts to support credit 
unions as an effective first level of deposit protection. Maintaining constructive relationships 
with credit unions and investing in programs that reduce risk to the Deposit Guarantee Fund 
will continue to be a key priority. 
For more information about deposit protection, the Corporation’s regulatory responsibilities 
and its role in promoting the strength and stability of Saskatchewan credit unions, talk to a 
representative at the credit union or visit the Corporation’s web site at www.cudgc.sk.ca.  

Member First
At Innovation Credit Union we want to be known for our unwavering commitment to providing exceptional member service 
at every opportunity. Our employees are encouraged to provide members with the kind of service that they themselves would 
want to experience. We continuously train new employees on our “MemberFirst” philosophy to enhance our three C’s approach 
(competence, courtesy, and concern for members).  We now look to be more responsive to member needs in an anywhere/any 
time service environment, adopting new methods of serving you to match how you would like to conduct your business.

Vision Story
Innovation Credit Union strives to be the most responsive and innovative financial services organization.  We look to continuously 
improve our internal operations and enhance the member experience you have with us each day.  We explore new methods of 
serving you better through the adoption of technology, listening to how and when you would like to conduct your business.
Our mission is to provide world class financial services wherever you are and whenever you need us.  Our staff members are 
actively engaged with our membership and each other, providing a culture of collaboration.  
We believe in community.  Part of creating exceptional value is giving back to the communities we serve to ensure they prosper.
We are financially strong, maintaining sound business practices and efficient levels of risk for long term sustainability.
We are dedicated to adding value to your life.   Thank you for being a member.





866.446.7001 / innovationcu.ca  



Social Responsibility and 
Innovation Credit Union





fresh approaches, stronger communities, the spirit of co-operation

Social Responsibility and
Innovation Credit Union

Canadian credit unions are unique in the ways we conduct business and serve our members. We 
open accounts, complete transactions, accept deposits, offer business services and much more. But 
what we celebrate as the credit union difference extends far beyond our financial services. 

As a member-owned co-operative, Innovation Credit Union has a long, distinguished history of 
reflecting the strength of its co-operative values in forging stronger communities. Locally, this spirit 
drives community economic development, dedicated volunteerism, community sponsorships, 
scholarships and a wide range of charitable giving. In each of our communities this commitment 
to sustaining strong communities is at the core of the credit union difference.

Social Responsibility is the principle of considering interests and community welfare well beyond 
direct business practices. As a financial co-operative, owned and controlled by our member-
customers, Innovation Credit Union brings fresh approaches to social responsibility that are as 
individual and exceptional as the communities we serve.

$426,750
In sponsorships and 

community development

$29,100
In scholarships  

and spirit awards

13,259
In staff  

volunteer hours
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Give



Caring is at the heart of the credit union movement. In today’s business world, many organizations have 
added some form of community outreach to their core activities. For credit unions, social responsibility and 
accountability go to the very core of our daily operations. 

In a world of globalization and the quest for broader markets, credit unions are local and anchored in our 
regions. While the average Canadian corporate charitable giving level has consistently hovered near 1% of 
profits, many Canadian credit unions consistently meet or exceed higher targets. At Innovation Credit Union, 
our goal is to give back 2% of pre-tax profits each year. In 2016, we actually gave back 2.35% resulting in 
$455,850 invested into our communities in the form of sponsorships, financial services, scholarships and spirit 
awards.

For more than 100 years, credit union membership has meant local control for ordinary people building financial 
futures for their families and friends. Organized locally, according to a co-operative model, credit unions have 
consistently provided urgently needed savings and lending services at fair rates.

Like our peers across the country, Innovation Credit Union is a modern financial institution playing a vibrant role 
in the local economy. We pride ourselves on being a cornerstone of community strength, growth and giving. 

Our Strong Values
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Member Feedback and Research
Member participation and feedback are crucial to the overall success of Innovation Credit Union. Annually, 
Innovation conducts a research survey with our members. The objective of the survey was to measure and 
benchmark Innovation Credit Union’s Net Promoter Score (NPS) for Balances Scorecard purposes. The survey also 
identified areas that Innovation Credit Union should focus on to ensure we are giving members what they want 
from their financial institution.
NPS is based on the theory that every company’s customers or members can be divided into three categories: 
Promoters, Passives and Detractors. Simply by asking the questions, “How likely is it that you would recommend 
Innovation Credit Union to a friend or colleague?” Innovation can gain clear measures of its performance 
through its members’ eyes.
Innovation Credit Union’s consumer NPS for 2016 for each category is as follows:

Consumer members who consider Innovation their primary financial institution: 53.5% (59.7% in 2015, 54.3% in 
2014, 51.9% in 2013 and 39.0% in 2012).  This gives Innovation the third highest ranking when compared to the 
other Saskatchewan retail banking customers.
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4.2.1 ICU Promoters, Passives and Detractors 
—Overall and Bank Comparisons (Primary) 
 
Innovation Credit Union’s Net Promoter Score for members 
who consider ICU their primary financial institution in 2016 is 
53.5% (59.7% in 2015 and 54.3% in 2014). 

This gives it the third highest ranking when compared to the 
other Saskatchewan retail banking customers in Figure 12.    

Innovation Credit Union’s NPS breakdown of primary mem-
bers is as follows: 

 Promoters = 66.8% (70.5% in 2015 and 67.1% in 2014); 

 Passives = 19.9% (18.7% in 2015 and 20.1% in 2014); and 

 Detractors = 13.3% (10.8% in 2015 and 12.8% in 2014). 
 
Strategic Thoughts—Innovation Credit Union needs to set 
incremental goals for increasing the number of promoters and 
decreasing the number of detractors, thus resulting in higher 
future NPS (if achieved). 

Figure 12: Innovation Credit Union’s NPS and Breakdown Compared to Saskatchewan Benchmarks (Primary Financial Institution) 

        NPS          
2016        2015 
 

60.0%      n/a  

55.2%    51.2% 

53.5%   59.7% 

49.5%  50.0% 

43.8%   36.3% 

41.3%  40.0% 

34.8%  36.0% 

24.6%   17.9%  

19.4%   20.7% 

19.0%   18.6% 

13.6%   10.2% 

0.7%      4.5% 

Note: Only institutions with a minimum sample size of 30 were included 



Giving Time
Saskatchewan leads the country in volunteerism with 58% of residents volunteering according to Statistics 
Canada. At Innovation, we’re proud to be part of that tradition. In 2016 we met our goal to positively affect the 
communities we live in by volunteering 13,259 hours. We see this number continuing to grow as we work 
to create more opportunities for our staff to volunteer and impact the communities they live and work in. 
From sitting on boards to coaching and raising funds, Innovation Credit Union employees make a tremendous 
difference. 

Much of this volunteering is outside regular business hours. However, through new corporate initiatives, 
employees can now volunteer during their work day as well. Finding employees with character built on 
philanthropy and volunteerism is one of the many reasons for our organizational success. We are proud of our 
staff’s commitment to community.

Fundraising
Credit unions not only give back to their communities 
with direct donations, we’re connected and involved in 
fundraising for community causes. Saskatchewan credit 
unions have a long history of raising funds for charitable 
organizations and causes. These efforts generate donations 
by employees, credit union members and the public. 
Fundraising includes a wide variety of activities on behalf 
of local causes, as well as national and international relief 
programs. 

Together with our members, Innovation Credit Union 
has helped raise funds for Telemiracle, Children’s Wish 
Foundation, Children’s Hospital Foundation, Red Cross 
disaster initiatives and many other worthy causes.  

Moreover, in an effort to provide greater benefits to all our 
staff and communities, staff members have the opportunity 
to partake in our iDress Down for Charity program. Staff 
voluntarily sign up to participate in our dress down day 
program for a donation of $2 per pay period. Registered 
participants in each region submit the name of charities that they would like to see benefit from the charity 
program. In 2016, our staff donated $16,500 to local charities.  

Economic Development
Community development brings local people together to work toward priorities or goals established by 
the community for the community, based on shared experiences and values. For credit unions and their 
communities, community economic development projects have a significant impact on both social and 
economic growth. The economic leadership that credit unions provide can assume many forms – from giving 
direct financial assistance to providing low-cost financial services, to volunteering the initiative and financial 
expertise needed to pull together community resources to achieve a worthwhile community objective.

4



Investing in Communities
Helping communities grow represents a major priority for credit unions across 
Canada. We have a history of engaging in projects that emphasize community 
self-help and deliver clear social and economic benefits. Over the years, credit 
unions have earned a reputation for their concern for community, often through 
philanthropy and community service.

At Innovation Credit Union, we take that a step further by challenging ourselves 
to make community responsibility and sustainability a core part of our business. 
Community is built into our strategic plan as one of our values. We believe 
creating exceptional value includes giving back to the communities and regions 
we serve to ensure they prosper. We participate in local economic development initiatives from conception to 
completion through effective partnerships with community-based organizations.

Go Green Friday
Innovation was thrilled to partner with Stark & Marsh CPA LLP to host Go Green Friday in 
Swift Current on September 16th.  Go Green contributed to planting over 2200 of trees 
and shrubs and beautifying several project sites to improve the carbon footprint within the 
Swift Current community. A number of Innovation staff members stepped up to volunteer 
throughout the day, with a record breaking 160 volunteers and 11 project building sites.

Wilkie Community Centre Rebuild Project 
Building on five years of great success and community support across Canada, Concentra, a finance and trust 
services provider in the credit union system granted the Wilkie Community Centre a $10,000 emPOWERING 
award – ‘Your Communities Campaign’. Innovation Credit union nominated the Wilkie Community Centre to 
receive an emPOWERING award after The Centre was severely damaged by a fire in October 2015. The rebuild 
project will benefit the entire community and surrounding area by inspiring youth to be more active and 
involved in recreational activities. 

Dr. Noble Irwin Challenge
Innovation Credit Union stepped forward at the end of 
February and challenged all financial institutions to a 
corporate challenge, matching all donations up to a maximum 
$250,000 to the Cypress Health Region’s long-term healthcare 
facility. Several different financial institutions donated a total 
of $165,000, when matched with Innovation’s donation, the 
total contribution to the Dr. Noble Irwin Regional Healthcare 

Foundation’s ‘A Welcome Home Campaign’ was $330,000.

Scholarships and Spirit Awards
Innovation Credit Union has a strong commitment to our youth. We believe that higher education creates a 
world of opportunities and we’re proud to help open those doors. In 2016 we provided $29,100 in scholarships 
and spirit awards. This includes:

• 14 $1,000 scholarships to graduating grade 12 students enrolling in a full-time post-secondary educational 
program

• 27 $300 spirit awards
• $7,000 in college sponsorships for students at Great Plains College and North West College

Innovation operates 
22 locations in 22 

communities across 
Western Saskatchewan. 
We reach as far north as 
Buffalo Narrows and as 

far south as Frontier.
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Random Acts of Kindness
In 2016 we took the opportunity to show members 
how much we value our relationships with them 
by giving back in a unique way. Led by Innovation’s 
Young Leaders, staff members were encouraged to 
get out and do something unexpected for someone 
else during Co-op Week by paying it forward with 
random acts of kindness.

Throughout the districts we serve, they worked with 
local businesses to treat people to freebies, including 
flowers, coffee, lunch, car washes and groceries. 

Summer Student Program
Our summer student program was built to guide our newest professionals in the workforce with an effort to hire 
them permanently before they are even finished school. Our approach to the program has evolved from simply 
providing a summer job to students so they can earn money, to a legitimate opportunity to learn aspects of our 
business. We accepted 12 students last year and have committed the same for this year with a focus on regional 
equality. 

Students gain experience in all areas of our organization from front-line to support roles and even have the 
opportunity to work on meaningful projects. They study our values, our culture, and observe some of the chal-
lenges we face striving to be a financial provider of choice.

Our efforts to move to a more mobile, Omni-channel environment is often viewed by our students as exciting 
and in line with their wants as a member so it’s easy to gain buy-in from our newest potential employees.

At the conclusion of summer, we discuss organizational goals combined with the summer students’ goals and 
look at opportunities to add another year to the skill set based on commitment to their career aspirations, our 
membership and organization.

Member Rewards
There’s more than one way to benefit with Member Rewards. As a member of Innovation Credit Union you’re also 
an owner; when organizations prosper, their owners also benefit. Our Member Rewards program ensures our 
valued members receive annual compensation.

We are thrilled to announce the LARGEST payout in the history of our credit 
union, $3.38 million (includes 4.59% cash dividend and $20 youth dividend)
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Social Responsibility
For credit unions, social responsibility means taking responsibility for the impact of business activities on 
members/customers, employees, shareholders, other community members as well as the environment. It’s a 
core principle leading to voluntary steps to improve the quality of life for employees and their families as well as 
the local community and society at large. In recent years, many of Canada’s credit unions have led the way with 
responsible employment, governance, environmental and investment programs and policies. And throughout 
their history, credit unions have empowered Canada’s consumers with innovative products and services, which 
have often been imitated by other financial institutions.

Market Code
Innovation Credit Union voluntarily adheres to a Credit Union Market Code, jointly developed by Saskatchewan 
credit unions, SaskCentral and Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation to ensure the protection of credit 
union members. The code sets out guidelines in the following areas:

• the process for handling complaints regarding the service, products, fees or charges of Innovation Credit 
Union

• fair sales, including the roles and relationship of staff to all members/clients in accordance with the financial 
services agreement

• our financial planning process
• how we protect the interests of those who do business with Innovation Credit Union by ensuring all 

member/client information is kept confidential and used only for the purpose for which it is gathered
• professional standards
• how we ensure our capital structure aligns with our risk philosophy
• the business and industry standards we follow for financial reporting
• governance practices and how we adhere to the intent and stipulation of our corporate bylaws, approved by 

the membership of Innovation Credit Union
• how we employ risk management to ensure all risks are measured and managed in an acceptable fashion

Socially Responsible Investing
Socially responsible investing integrates personal values, as well as environmental and social factors, with 
investment decisions. Underpinning this approach is the view that investors care where their money goes and 
want to make a profit on their investments – but not at any cost.
Credit unions have been pioneers in socially responsible investing. Founded by credit unions in 1992, Ethical 
Funds® is Canada’s leader in this area. It’s the country’s most comprehensive family of sustainable investments. 
Companies with strong financial performance and good environmental, social and governance practices have 
the greatest potential to outperform and mitigate risk in the long term. That’s why Ethical Funds’ work is about 
both financial performance and improving how companies do business. Ethical Funds is Canada’s largest and 
most comprehensive family of sustainable investments.

Pre-Investing in our Employees
As member-owners of our credit union, virtually all employees have a key stake in our organization. This gives 
them a profound influence on the policies that affect them and their enthusiasm for their work. Credit unions 
and other co-operative organizations tend to be employers of choice, with progressive, forward-looking 
employment policies – reflecting co-operative values and principles.
As employers, Canadian credit unions are recognized for progressive policies such as competitive fixed and 
variable compensation, flexible benefit plans, flexible work schedules, supporting volunteer work, employee 
wellness plans and educational support. At Innovation Credit Union we work to ensure our employees are proud, 
feel valued and are actively engaged in the achievement of our corporate vision.



iMentor Program
The iMentor program allows more experienced Innovation employees to give back by helping others grow. It 
gives participants an opportunity to expand their personal networks, build confidence and prepare for future 
opportunities. Not necessarily in formal leadership roles, our mentors are employees who have knowledge, 
skills and experience they’d like to share. We’re proud to say that the iMentor program is growing and saw 15 
employee pairings in 2016.

Building Future Leaders
Growing the talents of future young leaders is one of the most important goals of the Canadian credit union 
system. The National Young Leaders Committee focuses on developing, promoting, and connecting with young 
and emerging leaders in the Canadian credit union system. 

The Innovation Young Leaders Committee, formed in 2013, works to to grow our credit union and attract, 
educate and retain our very own young leaders. The committee hosts staff 
development opportunities on topics such as leadership, generational differences 
and other issues that affect credit unions.  In 2016, the IYL lead our Random Acts of 
Kindness, hosted seminars for graduating high school students and internal webinars 
for all staff members to attend that focused on personal development, and partnered 
with our local communities to host Santa Night.

Learning and Development 
Employee learning and development plays a significant role in our organization. Our MemberFirst training 
program focuses on treating members with competence, courtesy, and concern. It also concentrates on fully 
meeting our members’ needs by suggesting and recommending all the Innovation Credit Union products that 
can enhance our members’ financial well-being. 

In addition, staff members completed more than 11,500 hours of training throughout the year, which includes 
over 6,600 hours of traditional face-to-face training and 5,000 hours of online training through our extensive 
library of foundational training programs developed specifically for credit unions.

Building Engagement 

The financial services industry faces an exciting time of transformation as we work to meet our members’ 
changing consumer behavior technology, increasing competition and mounting regulatory pressure. Many of 
these changes require our employees to think progressively and find innovative solutions.

In this environment, it’s important that Innovation employees have the support and resources they need to 
be effective, engaged and satisfied at work. In 2016 we continued our work with AON Hewitt, one of North 
America’s leaders in measuring employee engagement, to gauge our effectiveness in this area. We’re proud to 
report that in 2016, Innovation saw 9% growth in organizational engagement from 2015-2016. 

Awards of Excellence
The Award of Excellence is Innovation Credit Union’s performance recognition program that rewards employees 
who go above and beyond what is normally expected of them in their regular positions duties. These staff 
exemplify the characteristics and behaviors of exceptional employees and Innovation Credit Union recognizes 
these employees for their invaluable contributions.

We believe that giving our employees exposure to best practices helps them to expand their skills. The World 
Council of Credit Unions (WOCCU) acts as an advocate of the credit union advantage, a platform for innovation 
and exchange of knowledge amongst its members and an agency for the development of the credit union 
movement internationally. Giving our employees who exemplify excellence the opportunity to attend WOCCU’s 
annual conference benefits the individual, the organization, and ultimately our member-owners.

Young Leaders
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Scorecard Results 
2016 Annual Report

Scorecard 
Category

Strategic Objectives Performance Measures

People

• Employee engagement is a priority 
as we believe that engaged leaders = 
engaged people = engaged members 

• We will continue to focus on providing 
opportunity for our leaders to work 
with and coach their people to 
ensure that we are all maximizing our 
contributions towards our common 
mission and vision

• We are a high performance, unified 
culture of innovation and collaboration. 
We continue to embrace change and 
adapt to our changing environment

Business • Ensure efficient processes and 
productivity.

Growth

• Demonstrate and enhance member/ 
client experience. 

• Exhibit community engagement and 
community development.

• Community leadership - maintain a 
positive corporate image.

Finance and 
Risk

• Prudently manage growth.

• Achieve earnings equal to or better 
than budget.

• Build capital to support operations, 
enterprise risks and growth.

 Actual Target
Employee 
engagement  68% 66% 
 
Employee 95% 95-98% 
development index 

Voluntary staff 8-10% 8.05%
turnover 

 Actual Target
Net Promoter 53.50% 63.00%
Score (NPS)

Volunteer hours 13,259 12,000
per year

Contribution as a 2-4%  2.35%
% of pretax profit

 
 Actual Target
Efficiency ratio  70.37% 70.00% 
 

 Actual Target
Assets under  $2.82 Billion $2.82 Billion 
management
  
Return on assets  0.78%  0.70%

Risk weighted 12.71% 12.65% 
capital adequacy  
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Management Discussion and Analysis
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is presented to enable readers to assess material changes 
in the financial condition of the operating results of Innovation Credit Union (Innovation) for the year ended 
December 31, 2016, compared with prior years, planned results and future strategies.  This MD&A is prepared 
in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes for the year ended December 31, 
2016 and should be read together.  The MD&A includes information up to March 14, 2017.  Unless otherwise 
indicated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars and have been primarily derived from Innovation’s 
annual Consolidated Financial Statements.  2012 through 2016 Consolidated Financial Statements and MD&A 
figures have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).  

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements concerning Innovation’s future strategies.  These statements 
involve uncertainties in relation to prevailing economic, legislative and regulatory conditions at the time of 
writing.  Therefore, actual results may differ from the forward-looking statements contained in this discussion.

Factors That May Affect Future Results
Although Innovation is focused in Saskatchewan, the economic and business conditions in Canada and abroad 
can impact Canada and local economies, affecting business, consumer prices, and personal incomes.  The 
prevailing conditions nationally can impact financial markets and the Bank of Canada’s monetary policy, causing 
changes in interest rates and the value of the Canadian dollar.  Fluctuations in the capital markets and the extent 
of competition can impact the market share and price of Innovation’s products and services.  All these factors 
impact the environmental conditions in which Innovation operates and accordingly affects performance.
Innovation Credit Union operates in a very competitive industry with competition coming from traditional 
banking institutions along with a host of non-traditional and new market entrants.  This heightened level of 
competition along with the rapid pace of change in technology and consumer behavior has strong influences 
over how the organization provides financial services to current and future members.

Economic Conditions
Global
From a global perspective, economic activity decreased slightly in 2016 to an estimated 3.1 percent which was 
down from 3.2 percent in the prior year.  Economic output originating from advanced economies including 
the United States, Canada and many within the Euro Area grew by 1.6 percent in 2016 (2.1 percent in 2015).  
Economic output originating from the emerging market and developing economies including Russia, China, 
India along with Latin America grew by 4.1 percent in 2016 (4.1 percent in 2015).
As per the International Monetary Fund (IMF): 

There has been a stronger-than-expected pickup in growth in advanced economies, due mostly to a reduced 
drag from inventories and some recovery in manufacturing output. In contrast, it is matched by an unexpected 
slowdown in some emerging market economies, mostly reflecting idiosyncratic factors. 
Among advanced economies, activity rebounded strongly in the United States after a weak first half of 2016, and 
the economy is approaching full employment. Output remains below potential in a number of other advanced 
economies, notably in the euro area. Preliminary third-quarter growth figures were somewhat stronger than 
previously forecast in some economies, such as Spain and the United Kingdom, where domestic demand held up 
better than expected in the aftermath of the Brexit vote. Historical growth revisions indicate that Japan’s growth 
rate in 2016 and in preceding years was stronger than previously estimated.
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The picture for emerging market and developing economies (EMDEs) remains much more diverse. The growth 
rate in China was a bit stronger than expected, supported by continued policy stimulus. But activity was weaker 
than expected in some Latin American countries currently in recession, such as Argentina and Brazil, as well as in 
Turkey, which faced a sharp contraction in tourism revenues. Activity in Russia was slightly better than expected, 
in part reflecting firmer oil prices.

Canada
Canada’s real GDP was estimated to grow by 1.6 percentage points on a year-over-year basis in 2016.  This was an 
increase from the 2015 Q4 year-over-year result of 0.4 percentage points.  The following is an excerpt from the 
January 2017 Monetary Policy Report published by the Bank of Canada:

As per the Bank of Canada:
Following a very weak second quarter, largely due to the Alberta wildfires and a sharp decline in non-energy 
exports, economic growth rebounded strongly.  Growth was temporarily boosted by the resumption of 
production in the oil sands and a partial rebound in non-energy exports.  Consumption, especially of services, 
benefiting from the rollout of the Canada Child Benefit.
In contrast, residential investment fell in the third quarter for the first time since beginning of 2014.  Government 
expenditures contracted modestly as public capital formation was less than expected in the third quarter.  
Business investment remained weak, despite a significant jump associated with the arrival of an imported 
production module destined for the Hebron offshore oil project.

Saskatchewan
As per the Saskatchewan Ministry of the Economy January 2017 Saskatchewan Monthly Economic Indicators 
Report:

According to Statistic Canada’s estimates released on November 10, 2016, Saskatchewan posted a Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) at basic prices of $59.4 billion (B) (in 2017 chained dollars) in 2015.  This represents a 
decrease of 1.3% in real GDP, compared to 2014.  Saskatchewan ranked eighth among the provinces in terms of 
percentage change.
 
Saskatchewan’s seasonally adjusted unemployment rate stood at 6.5% in December 2016, down from 6.8% in 
November 2016.  The province had the fourth lowest seasonally adjusted unemployment rate in the country and 
was below the national rate of 6.9%.

There has been a stronger-than-expected pickup in growth in advanced economies, due mostly to a 
reduced drag from inventories and some recovery in manufacturing output. In contrast, it is matched by an 
unexpected slowdown in some emerging market economies, mostly reflecting idiosyncratic factors.  

Among advanced economies, activity rebounded strongly in the United States after a weak first half of 
2016, and the economy is approaching full employment. Output remains below potential in a number of 
other advanced economies, notably in the euro area. Preliminary third-quarter growth figures were 
somewhat stronger than previously forecast in some economies, such as Spain and the United Kingdom, 
where domestic demand held up better than expected in the aftermath of the Brexit vote. Historical 
growth revisions indicate that Japan’s growth rate in 2016 and in preceding years was stronger than 
previously estimated. 

The picture for emerging market and developing economies (EMDEs) remains much more diverse. The 
growth rate in China was a bit stronger than expected, supported by continued policy stimulus. But activity 
was weaker than expected in some Latin American countries currently in recession, such as Argentina and 
Brazil, as well as in Turkey, which faced a sharp contraction in tourism revenues. Activity in Russia was 
slightly better than expected, in part reflecting firmer oil prices. 

 
 
Canada 
Canada’s real GDP was estimated to grow by 1.6 percentage points on a year-over-year basis in 2016.  This was an 
increase from the 2015 Q4 year-over-year result of 0.4 percentage points.  The following is an excerpt from the 
January 2017 Monetary Policy Report published by the Bank of Canada: 
 

 
 
As per the Bank of Canada: 

Following a very weak second quarter, largely due to the Alberta wildfires and a sharp decline in non-
energy exports, economic growth rebounded strongly.  Growth was temporarily boosted by the resumption 
of production in the oil sands and a partial rebound in non-energy exports.  Consumption, especially of 
services, benefiting from the rollout of the Canada Child Benefit. 
 
In contrast, residential investment fell in the third quarter for the first time since beginning of 2014.  
Government expenditures contracted modestly as public capital formation was less than expected in the 
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Economic and Financial Service Outlook
Global
The International Monetary Fund suggests in their January, 2017 World Economic Outlook:
Advanced economies are now projected to grow by 1.9 percent in 2017 and 2.0 percent in 2018.  As noted, this 
forecast is particularly uncertain in light of potential changes in the policy stance of the United States under 
the incoming administration.  The projection for the United States is the one with the highest likelihood among 
a wide range of possible scenarios.  Growth projections for 2017 have also been revised upward for Germany, 
Japan, Spain, and the United Kingdom, mostly on account of a stronger-than-expected performance during the 
latter part of 2016.  These upward revisions more than offset the downward revisions to the outlook for Italy and 
Korea.
The Bank of Canada holds a similar view of an improved outlook for 2017.  In the January 2017 Monetary Policy 
Report, the Bank suggests:
The global economy improved in the second half of 2016, and economic growth is forecast to continue to 
strengthen over the projection horizon.  In particular, growth in real gross domestic product (GDP) in the United 
States picked up after a weak first half of the year and is expected to remain solid.  Meanwhile, contractionary 
pressures appear to have reached a trough in some emerging-market economies (EMEs).  Overall, global eco-
nomic growth is projected to increase from just under 3 percent in 2016 to about 3 ½ per cent by 2018.
The outlook, however, is subject to considerable uncertainty, given the unknowns around the policy actions by 
the incoming US administration, particularly concerning trade.  These potential policy changes pose important 
risks to the current projection, which will be updated in future reports as additional details become available. 
The projection for global economic growth as per the Bank of Canada is as follows:

Canada
From a Canadian perspective, the Bank of Canada provided the following comments as part of the January 2017 
Monetary Policy Report:

The Canadian economy is evolving largely as expected, but the outlook needs to be viewed in the context of 
elevated policy uncertainty at the global level.  The adjustment of the Canadian economy to past declines in 
commodity prices is progressing.  Activity in resource-related industries appears to have troughed. At the same 
time, investment and employment are being reallocated to other sectors of the economy that are 

 
 
Canada 
From a Canadian perspective, the Bank of Canada provided the following comments as part of the January 2017 
Monetary Policy Report: 

The Canadian economy is evolving largely as expected, but the outlook needs to be viewed in the context of 
elevated policy uncertainty at the global level.  The adjustment of the Canadian economy to past declines 
in commodity prices is progressing.  Activity in resource-related industries appears to have troughed.  At 
the same time, investment and employment are being reallocated to other sectors of the economy that are 
expanding, most notably the service sector.  The broader effects of the past deterioration of the terms of 
trade on real incomes and wealth will likely be an ongoing constraint on the growth of economic activity 
through 2017.  
 
Real GDP is expected to grow at a rate moderately above that of potential output throughout the 
projection horizon.  Growth in the service sector in particular will underpin rising employment, household 
incomes and consumption.  A modest expansion of exports and investment will be supported by 
strengthening foreign demand, although persistent competitiveness challenges are expected to restrain 
growth in production of non-energy goods.  Export growth will be limited by the recent appreciation of the 
Canadian dollar, alongside that of the US dollar, vis-à-vis most other currencies. 
 
Monetary and financial conditions, the strengthening US and global economies and federal fiscal stimulus 
are expected to support economic activity, despite a modest increase in longer-term borrowing costs since 
October.  Residential investment will be tempered by recent increases in mortgage rates and measures 
implemented by the federal government in October to mitigate risks to financial stability. 
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expanding, most notably the service sector.  The broader effects of the past deterioration of the terms of trade on 
real incomes and wealth will likely be an ongoing constraint on the growth of economic activity through 2017.
Real GDP is expected to grow at a rate moderately above that of potential output throughout the projection 
horizon.  Growth in the service sector in particular will underpin rising employment, household incomes and 
consumption.  A modest expansion of exports and investment will be supported by strengthening foreign 
demand, although persistent competitiveness challenges are expected to restrain growth in production of non-
energy goods.  Export growth will be limited by the recent appreciation of the Canadian dollar, alongside that of 
the US dollar, vis-à-vis most other currencies.
Monetary and financial conditions, the strengthening US and global economies and federal fiscal stimulus are 
expected to support economic activity, despite a modest increase in longer-term borrowing costs since October.  
Residential investment will be tempered by recent increases in mortgage rates and measures implemented by 
the federal government in October to mitigate risks to financial stability.

Saskatchewan
As per the Saskatchewan Ministry of the Economy January 2017 Saskatchewan Monthly Economic Indicators 
Report:

A number of major economic forecasters expect Saskatchewan’s economy to experience positive growth in 
2017.  For 2017, the average estimate for Saskatchewan is 1.6%, fifth among the provinces.  Forecasts from seven 
private forecasters ranged from 1.2% to 2.0%. The average real GDP growth forecast for the national rate is 1.9%. 

Financial Performance to Plan
Each year Innovation develops a corporate plan through a comprehensive budget and planning process.  The 
following table provides an overview of key financial measures compared to targets for 2016.  Actual results for 
2015 have also been included for comparison.

Financial Management
Growth

Assets
Asset Growth
Deposits
Deposit Growth
Loans
Loan Growth

Credit quality
Delinquency greater than 90 days
Net impaired loans
Allowance for credit losses
Provision for credit losses

Liquidity management
Loan to asset ratio

Capital management
Common Equity Tier 1 / Risk Weighted Assets
Total Tier 1 Capital / Risk Weighted Assets
Total Eligible Capital / Risk Weighted Assets
Total Eligible Capital / Leveraged Assets

Profitability and member return
Net income
Return on assets (ROA) before member distributions and income tax
Efficiency ratio
Member distributions

 2016 Actual 2016 Plan 2015 Actual

 2,301,911,702 2,318,710,781 2,145,807,953
 7.27% 8.06% 9.33%
 1,944,495,346 1,967,723,063 1,845,512,476
 5.36% 6.62% 7.40%
 1,898,530,401 1,941,465,485 1,766,592,356
 7.47% 9.90% 10.44%

 1.78%  0.40%
 4,194,092 3,763,542 4,163,954
 2,388,862 2,730,453 2,749,071
 1,039,037 750,000 530,944

 82.48% 83.73% 82.33%

 11.38% 11.38% 11.34%
 11.38% 11.38% 11.34%
 12.71% 12.65% 12.67%
 8.30% 8.02% 8.06%

 17,850,231 16,166,458 13,987,277
 1.11% 1.03% 0.92%
 70.37% 70.00% 70.61%
 3,380,000 3,531,036 3,260,000
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Financial Position Review
The financial position review provides an analysis of our major statement of financial position categories and a 
review of our loans, deposits, capital, and liquidity positions.  The review is based on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and credit union only results where appropriate.  Consolidated Financial Statements include the 
operational results of the credit union as well as the insurance and holding company subsidiaries.
Growth
The pace of asset growth slowed in 2016.  Total funds under management ended 2016 at $2.82 billion ($2.59 
billion in 2015) which represents total growth of $232.07 million or 8.97% during the year.  On-balance sheet 
assets ended 2016 at $2.30 billion ($2.15 billion in 2015), representing growth of $156.10 million or 7.27% 
during 2016.  Other funds under management, or off-balance sheet assets under administration, include wealth 
management assets of $515.90 million ($439.00 million in 2015), an increase of $76.90 million or 17.52% in 2016.  
Off-balance sheet assets also include syndicated loan balances of $2.59 million ($3.52 million in 2015) which 
represents a decrease of $0.93 million in 2016. 

Financial Position Review 
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review of our loans, deposits, capital, and liquidity positions.  The review is based on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and credit union only results where appropriate.  Consolidated Financial Statements include the 
operational results of the credit union as well as the insurance and holding company subsidiaries. 
 
 
Growth 
 
The pace of asset growth slowed in 2016.  Total funds under management ended 2016 at $2.82 billion ($2.59 
billion in 2015) which represents total growth of $232.07 million or 8.97% during the year.  On-balance sheet 
assets ended 2016 at $2.30 billion ($2.15 billion in 2015), representing growth of $156.10 million or 7.27% during 
2016.  Other funds under management, or off-balance sheet assets under administration, include wealth 
management assets of $515.90 million ($439.00 million in 2015), an increase of $76.90 million or 17.52% in 2016.  
Off-balance sheet assets also include syndicated loan balances of $2.59 million ($3.52 million in 2015) which 
represents a decrease of $0.93 million in 2016.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Deposits 
 
The primary driver of Innovation’s balance sheet growth is deposits, as the majority its assets are funded by 
member deposits.  Asset growth, in particular member loan growth, that cannot be funded on-balance sheet 
through member deposits are either funded through loan syndication, loan securitization or using corporate 
borrowings.  These funding alternatives enable Innovation to continue to meet member loan demand while 
maintaining prudent liquidity levels.   
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During 2016, the pace of annual deposit growth slowed.  Deposits ended 2016 at $1.94 billion ($1.85 billion in 
2015), which represents growth of 5.36% (7.40% in 2015).  Innovation’s deposits consist of funds from both 
personal and commercial members. 
 

 
 
 
 
The composition of our deposit portfolio shifted slightly in 2016 as growth in fixed rate deposit products was more 
pronounced.  Fixed rate products grew at a faster pace when compared to core deposits, thus shifting the mix of 
the deposit portfolio.   
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The composition of our deposit portfolio shifted slightly in 2016 as growth in fixed rate deposit products was 
more pronounced.  Fixed rate products grew at a faster pace when compared to core deposits, thus shifting the 
mix of the deposit portfolio. 

Deposits
The primary driver of Innovation’s balance sheet growth is deposits, as the majority its assets are funded by 
member deposits.  Asset growth, in particular member loan growth, that cannot be funded on-balance sheet 
through member deposits are either funded through loan syndication, loan securitization or using corporate 
borrowings.  These funding alternatives enable Innovation to continue to meet member loan demand while 
maintaining prudent liquidity levels.   
During 2016, the pace of annual deposit growth slowed.  Deposits ended 2016 at $1.94 billion ($1.85 billion 
in 2015), which represents growth of 5.36% (7.40% in 2015).  Innovation’s deposits consist of funds from both 
personal and commercial members.
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Loans 
Innovation Credit Union continues to focus on ensuring an appropriate balance sheet mix is realized.  The 
organization enacts strategies to obtain a desired structure based on capital and liquidity constraints. 
During 2016 the total loan portfolio held on the balance sheet grew by $131.94 million to end the year at $1.89 
billion ($1.77 billion in 2015).  The annual growth realized during the year equated to 7.47%.  The following 
illustrates Innovation’s historic loan growth.  
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A significant portion of Innovation’s loan portfolio continues to be comprised of stable, low risk, consumer 
mortgages.  The remaining composition of Innovation’s total loan portfolio shifted slightly higher into the 
agriculture loan category during 2016 as shown in the following illustration: 
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Credit quality
Past Due Loans
A loan is considered past due when a counterparty is contractually in arrears but where payment in full is 
expected.  Loan delinquency is a natural risk faced by all financial institutions.  Delinquency greater than 90 days 
was 1.81% in 2016, an increase from 0.40% in the prior year.   The increase in 2016 resulted from changes in local 
economic conditions.  Innovation continues to manage this risk in a prudent fashion, working with members 
impacted as a result of these changing economic conditions.  Historic delinquency trends are illustrated in the 
following graph:

Impaired Loans
Impaired loans are loans considered to be of a higher risk for possible default.  Total impaired loans ended 
2016 at a level of $4.19 million, an increase from the 2015 year-end figure of $4.16 million.  Impaired loans as a 
percentage of total loans decreased to 0.22% in 2016 (0.24% in 2015).  The following depicts the historic trends 
of the impaired loans held by Innovation Credit Union:
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2016, an increase from 0.40% in the prior year.   The increase in 2016 resulted from changes in local economic 
conditions.  Innovation continues to manage this risk in a prudent fashion, working with members impacted as a 
result of these changing economic conditions.  Historic delinquency trends are illustrated in the following 
graph:Historic delinquency trends are illustrated as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
Impaired Loans 
 
Impaired loans are loans considered to be of a higher risk for possible default.  Total impaired loans ended 2016 at 
a level of $4.19 million, an increase from the 2015 year-end figure of $4.16 million.  Impaired loans as a 
percentage of total loans decreased to 0.22% in 2016 (0.24% in 2015).  The following depicts the historic trends of 
the impaired loans held by Innovation Credit Union: 
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Allowance for credit losses 
 
Innovation monitors its exposure to potential credit losses and maintains both individual and collective allowances 
accordingly.  
 
Individual allowances are based on estimates of the net realizable value (NRV) of impaired loans.  This NRV 
includes any estimated future cash flows from loan payments as well as proceeds from the sale of any security.  
Total individual loan allowances decreased from $2.08 million in 2015 to $1.48 million in 2016. 
 
Collective allowances provide for probable losses that exist in the portfolio that have not been specifically 
identified as impaired.  Collective allowances are calculated using historical loan loss data and economic 
conditions.  Total collective allowances increased to $0.91 million in 2016 from $0.67 million in 2015. 
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Innovation monitors its exposure to potential credit losses and maintains both individual and collective allowances 
accordingly.  
 
Individual allowances are based on estimates of the net realizable value (NRV) of impaired loans.  This NRV 
includes any estimated future cash flows from loan payments as well as proceeds from the sale of any security.  
Total individual loan allowances decreased from $2.08 million in 2015 to $1.48 million in 2016. 
 
Collective allowances provide for probable losses that exist in the portfolio that have not been specifically 
identified as impaired.  Collective allowances are calculated using historical loan loss data and economic 
conditions.  Total collective allowances increased to $0.91 million in 2016 from $0.67 million in 2015. 
 

 

Allowance for credit losses
Innovation monitors its exposure to potential credit losses and maintains both individual and collective 
allowances accordingly. 
Individual allowances are based on estimates of the net realizable value (NRV) of impaired loans.  This NRV 
includes any estimated future cash flows from loan payments as well as proceeds from the sale of any security.  
Total individual loan allowances decreased from $2.08 million in 2015 to $1.48 million in 2016.
Collective allowances provide for probable losses that exist in the portfolio that have not been specifically 
identified as impaired.  Collective allowances are calculated using historical loan loss data and economic 
conditions.  Total collective allowances increased to $0.91 million in 2016 from $0.67 million in 2015.

Provision for credit losses
Once the allowance for credit losses and write-offs has been assessed, a provision for credit losses is charged to 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Provision for credit losses (individual and collective) was 
$1.04 million in 2016 ($0.53 million in 2015) which has a negative impact on net income.  The loan loss provisions 
as a percentage of total loans increased to 0.05% in 2016 (0.03% in 2015).

Provision for credit losses 
 
Once the allowance for credit losses and write-offs has been assessed, a provision for credit losses is charged to 
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Provision for credit losses (individual and collective) was 
$1.04 million in 2016 ($0.53 million in 2015) which has a negative impact on net income.  The loan loss provisions 
as a percentage of total loans increased to 0.05% in 2016 (0.03% in 2015). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Liquidity management 
 
One of Innovation’s primary objectives as a financial institution is to prudently manage liquidity to ensure 
Innovation is able to generate or obtain sufficient cash or cash equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable 
price, to meet commitments as they become due, even under stressed conditions.  Innovation’s liquidity 
management framework, targets and strategies are established and documented in a Liquidity Plan which is 
approved by the board on an annual basis. 
 
The principles of Innovation’s liquidity management framework are: maintaining a strategy and policies for 
managing liquidity risk, maintaining a stock of liquid assets, measuring and monitoring funding requirements, 
managing market access to funding sources, contingency planning, and ensuring internal controls over liquidity 
risk management process. 
 
Innovation has an established policy with respect to liquidity, and has a number of processes and practices with 
respect to the management of funding requirements.  Innovation has built and maintains access to numerous 
funding sources.  Innovation’s primary source of funding is member deposits in the amount of $1.94 billion.   
 
In addition to member deposits, Innovation maintains external borrowing facilities from various sources.  
Innovation has an authorized line of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $29.70 million (CDN) as well as an 
authorized line of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $0.50 million (USD).  In addition, Innovation also has a 
demand loan in place with SaskCentral in the amount of $9.00 million.  Innovation also has access to a demand 
loan with Concentra Financial with an authorized limit of $40.00 million.  Lastly, Innovation has an available credit 
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Liquidity management
One of Innovation’s primary objectives as a financial institution is to prudently manage liquidity to ensure 
Innovation is able to generate or obtain sufficient cash or cash equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable 
price, to meet commitments as they become due, even under stressed conditions.  Innovation’s liquidity 
management framework, targets and strategies are established and documented in a Liquidity Plan which is 
approved by the board on an annual basis.
The principles of Innovation’s liquidity management framework are: maintaining a strategy and policies for 
managing liquidity risk, maintaining a stock of liquid assets, measuring and monitoring funding requirements, 
managing market access to funding sources, contingency planning, and ensuring internal controls over liquidity 
risk management process.
Innovation has an established policy with respect to liquidity, and has a number of processes and practices with 
respect to the management of funding requirements.  Innovation has built and maintains access to numerous 
funding sources.  Innovation’s primary source of funding is member deposits in the amount of $1.94 billion.  
In addition to member deposits, Innovation maintains external borrowing facilities from various sources.  
Innovation has an authorized line of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $29.70 million (CDN) as well as an 
authorized line of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $0.50 million (USD).  In addition, Innovation also has 
a demand loan in place with SaskCentral in the amount of $9.00 million.  Innovation also has access to a demand 
loan with Concentra Financial with an authorized limit of $40.00 million.  Lastly, Innovation has an available 
credit facility with Desjardins in the amount of $50.00 million.  In 2016 Innovation used external borrowing 
facilities minimally with no outstanding amount on any credit facility as at 2016 year-end.
The next source of liquidity for Innovation is the ability to securitize assets for the purpose of generating funds 
on the capital markets.  Loans are also potentially syndicated with numerous credit unions for liquidity purposes.  
In 2016, Innovation conducted securitization transactions totaling $55.00 million through the Canada Mortgage 
Bond Program.
Innovation also maintains a cushion of high quality, liquid assets to be drawn upon to meet unforeseen funding 
requirements.  Utilizing these various funding sources achieves liquidity diversification.
Saskatchewan credit unions are required by the provincial regulator, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee 
Corporation (CUDGC), to maintain 10% of their prior quarter-end liabilities on deposit with SaskCentral as 
manager of the Provincial Liquidity Program.  Throughout 2016, Innovation held the required amount of 
investments with SaskCentral for the purpose of maintaining its obligation to the Provincial Liquidity Program.  
In addition to the statutory liquidity investments on deposit with SaskCentral, Innovation maintains a high 
quality pool of securities to satisfy payment obligations and protect against unforeseen liquidity events.  The 
majority of Innovation’s marketable securities are held with Concentra Financial.
Innovation continues to monitor liquidity risk utilizing a stress testing program which models the impacts of 
eight distinct scenarios and calculates the resulting impacts on organizational liquidity measured over five 
different time periods.  The results of this stress testing program are reported on a quarterly basis.  In addition to 
this stress testing program, Innovations measures and monitors the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) on a frequent 
basis with the results also reported quarterly.  Finally, liquidity risk continues to be measured based on the 
organization’s loan to asset ratio.  As at the end of 2016, the loan to asset ratio was 82.48% which is an increase 
from 82.33% as at the end of 2015. 
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facility with Desjardins in the amount of $50.00 million.  In 2016 Innovation used external borrowing facilities 
minimally with no outstanding amount on any credit facility as at 2016 year-end. 
 
The next source of liquidity for Innovation is the ability to securitize assets for the purpose of generating funds on 
the capital markets.  Loans are also potentially syndicated with numerous credit unions for liquidity purposes.  In 
2016, Innovation conducted securitization transactions totaling $55.00 million through the Canada Mortgage Bond 
Program. 
 
Innovation also maintains a cushion of high quality, liquid assets to be drawn upon to meet unforeseen funding 
requirements.  Utilizing these various funding sources achieves liquidity diversification. 
 
Saskatchewan credit unions are required by the provincial regulator, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation 
(CUDGC), to maintain 10% of their prior quarter-end liabilities on deposit with SaskCentral as manager of the 
Provincial Liquidity Program.  Throughout 2016, Innovation held the required amount of investments with 
SaskCentral for the purpose of maintaining its obligation to the Provincial Liquidity Program.  In addition to the 
statutory liquidity investments on deposit with SaskCentral, Innovation maintains a high quality pool of securities 
to satisfy payment obligations and protect against unforeseen liquidity events.  The majority of Innovation’s 
marketable securities are held with Concentra Financial. 
 
Innovation continues to monitor liquidity risk utilizing a stress testing program which models the impacts of eight 
distinct scenarios and calculates the resulting impacts on organizational liquidity measured over five different time 
periods.  The results of this stress testing program are reported on a quarterly basis.  In addition to this stress 
testing program, Innovations measures and monitors the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) on a frequent basis with 
the results also reported quarterly.  Finally, liquidity risk continues to be measured based on the organization’s 
loan to asset ratio.  As at the end of 2016, the loan to asset ratio was 82.48% which is an increase from 82.33% as 
at the end of 2015.  
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Financial Performance Review
The financial performance review provides an analysis of the consolidated financial performance for the current 
fiscal year in relation to prior fiscal year results.
Profitability
Net income after tax for the year was $17.85 million, an increase from $13.99 million in the prior year.  For 2016, 
the total annualized return on assets (ROA) was 0.78% which was an improvement from the prior year result of 
0.65%.  The net income figure reported for 2016 was inclusive of an unrealized gain on held-for-trading financial 
instruments as reported on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the amount of $2.64 
million.  An unrealized loss on held-for-trading financial instruments in the amount of $2.05 million was reported 
in the prior year.  These amounts are unrealized losses or gains and merely reflect the market value change in the 
interest rate swap portfolio administered in an effort to prudently manage interest rate risk.  Upon being held to 
maturity any market valuation losses and gains will naturally be eliminated .
Tax treatment of Saskatchewan Credit Unions is currently under review by the Province of Saskatchewan.  
Potential changes in tax policy by the province will be made public as part of the 2017-2018 provincial budget 
scheduled to be released late March, 2017.  Changes to tax policy will naturally have an impact on future 
earnings of Innovation Credit Union.

Financial Performance Review 
 
The financial performance review provides an analysis of the consolidated financial performance for the current 
fiscal year in relation to prior fiscal year results. 
 
 
Profitability 
 
Net income after tax for the year was $17.85 million, an increase from $13.99 million in the prior year.  For 2016, 
the total annualized return on assets (ROA) was 0.78% which was an improvement from the prior year result of 
0.65%.  The net income figure reported for 2016 was inclusive of an unrealized gain on held-for-trading financial 
instruments as reported on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the amount of $2.64 million.  
An unrealized loss on held-for-trading financial instruments in the amount of $2.05 million was reported in the 
prior year.  These amounts are unrealized losses or gains and merely reflect the market value change in the 
interest rate swap portfolio administered in an effort to prudently manage interest rate risk.  Upon being held to 
maturity any market valuation losses and gains will naturally be eliminated. 
 
Tax treatment of Saskatchewan Credit Unions is currently under review by the Province of Saskatchewan.  
Potential changes in tax policy by the province will be made public as part of the 2017-2018 provincial budget 
scheduled to be released late March, 2017.  Changes to tax policy will naturally have an impact on future earnings 
of Innovation Credit Union. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Net income is comprised of the following items: 
 

 Net interest margin – is total interest revenue less total interest expenses and member distributions while 
factoring in any provisions for credit and investment impairment.  Net interest margin, after provision for 
credit losses, increased to $55.03 million in 2016 up from $52.45 million in 2015, which represents an 
annual growth rate of 4.92%.  Expressed as a percentage of total assets, net interest margin ended 2016 at 
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Net income is comprised of the following items:
• Net interest margin – is total interest revenue less total interest expenses and member distributions while 

factoring in any provisions for credit and investment impairment.  Net interest margin, after provision for 
credit losses, increased to $55.03 million in 2016 up from $52.45 million in 2015, which represents an annual 
growth rate of 4.92%.  Expressed as a percentage of total assets, net interest margin ended 2016 at 2.39% 
which is a decrease when compared to 2015 year-end results of 2.44 %.  Net interest margin continues to 
decline due to competitive pressures in the market place from existing and new market entrants.

• Other income – includes such items as insurance subsidiary revenues, wealth management revenues, ac-
count services charges and annual loan fees.  Consolidated other income increased to $21.06 million in 2016 
up from $20.03 million in 2015, which represents an annual growth rate of 5.15%.   Expressed as a percent-
age of total assets, other income decreased to 0.91% in 2016, down from 0.93% in 2015.

2.39% which is a decrease when compared to 2015 year-end results of 2.44%.  Net interest margin 
continues to decline due to competitive pressures in the market place from existing and new market 
entrants. 
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2016 up from $20.03 million in 2015, which represents an annual growth rate of 5.15%.   Expressed as a 
percentage of total assets, other income decreased to 0.91% in 2016, down from 0.93% in 2015. 
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• Operating expenses – includes various operating costs such as general business, occupancy, organizational, 
personnel and security.  Consolidated operating expenses increased to $56.66 million in 2016, an increase 
from $53.86 million in 2015 which represents an annual growth rate of 5.20%.  Expressed as a percentage of 
total assets, operating expenses decreased to 2.46% in 2016, down from 2.51% in 2015.

Efficiency
The efficiency ratio measures the percentage of income earned that is spent on the operation of the business.  A 
low efficiency ratio indicates efficient use of resources.  The ratio is calculated as non-interest expenses divided 
by the sum of net interest income (before credit losses and member distributions) and other income.  
The improvement in the efficiency ratio in 2016 to 70.37%, down from 70.61% in 2015, was driven by the fact 
that total revenues increased in 2016 by $4.24 million (5.56%) while total operating expenses grew by $2.80 
million (5.20%).

 Operating expenses – includes various operating costs such as general business, occupancy, 
organizational, personnel and security.  Consolidated operating expenses increased to $56.66 million in 
2016, an increase from $53.86 million in 2015 which represents an annual growth rate of 5.20%.  
Expressed as a percentage of total assets, operating expenses decreased to 2.46% in 2016, down from 
2.51% in 2015. 

 

 
 
 
 
Efficiency 
 
The efficiency ratio measures the percentage of income earned that is spent on the operation of the business.  A 
low efficiency ratio indicates efficient use of resources.  The ratio is calculated as non-interest expenses divided by 
the sum of net interest income (before credit losses and member distributions) and other income.   
 
The improvement in the efficiency ratio in 2016 to 70.37%, down from 70.61% in 2015, was driven by the fact that 
total revenues increased in 2016 by $4.24 million (5.56%) while total operating expenses grew by $2.80 million 
(5.20%). 
 

 
 
 
 
Member Distributions 
 
The board of directors declared total member distributions of $3.38 million based on 2016 earnings.  As part of 
this approved distribution, the board authorized a dividend payment based on 4.59% of active member rewards 
account balances outstanding as at December 31, 2016.  This total dividend payment will be approximately $0.76 
million and will be made available directly by the membership.  Also included in the declared member distribution 
was the youth dividend which will result in all members under the age of 18 as at December 31, 2016 receiving a 
cash dividend payment of $20.00.  The approximate remaining $2.57 million of the total authorized member 
distribution will take the form of a member reward allocation and will be distributed into member reward 
accounts based on total interest paid on qualifying loans as well as total interest earned on qualifying deposits 
during 2016.  The historic authorized member distribution amounts are depicted in the following illustration.  
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Member Distributions 
 
The board of directors declared total member distributions of $3.38 million based on 2016 earnings.  As part of 
this approved distribution, the board authorized a dividend payment based on 4.59% of active member rewards 
account balances outstanding as at December 31, 2016.  This total dividend payment will be approximately $0.76 
million and will be made available directly by the membership.  Also included in the declared member distribution 
was the youth dividend which will result in all members under the age of 18 as at December 31, 2016 receiving a 
cash dividend payment of $20.00.  The approximate remaining $2.57 million of the total authorized member 
distribution will take the form of a member reward allocation and will be distributed into member reward 
accounts based on total interest paid on qualifying loans as well as total interest earned on qualifying deposits 
during 2016.  The historic authorized member distribution amounts are depicted in the following illustration.  
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Member Distributions
The board of directors declared total member distributions of $3.38 million based on 2016 earnings.  As part of 
this approved distribution, the board authorized a dividend payment based on 4.59% of active member rewards 
account balances outstanding as at December 31, 2016.  This total dividend payment will be approximately 
$0.76 million and will be made available directly by the membership.  Also included in the declared member 
distribution was the youth dividend which will result in all members under the age of 18 as at December 31, 
2016 receiving a cash dividend payment of $20.00.  The approximate remaining $2.57 million of the total 
authorized member distribution will take the form of a member reward allocation and will be distributed into 
member reward accounts based on total interest paid on qualifying loans as well as total interest earned on 
qualifying  deposits during 2016.  The historic authorized member distribution amounts are depicted in the 
following illustration

In addition to this member distribution, Innovation views the no-fee personal account as another method by 
which profits are repatriated to the membership.  An upfront real-time benefit is provide to all personal members 
as there are no monthly service charge fees tied to this account.
Innovation contributes a significant amount to Saskatchewan communities each year.  For 2016, $0.46 million 
($0.44 million in 2015) was returned to communities around the province in the form of contributions to various 
community projects.  This amount is included in operating expenses under the general business category.

Capital management
Innovation’s capital management framework is designed to maintain an optimal level of capital.  Accordingly, 
capital polices are designed to ensure that Innovation meets its regulatory capital requirement, meets its internal 
assessment of required capital and builds long-term membership value.  Innovation retains a portion of its 
annual earnings in order to meet these capital objectives.  Once these capital objectives are met, additional 
earnings are allocated to members through member distributions authorized by the board of directors.  The 
current member rewards program allocates earnings to member rewards accounts based on interest paid on 
qualifying loans and interest received on qualifying deposits during the year in which an allocation is declared.  
Innovation has also implemented a dividend payment to members based on outstanding balances held in 
member rewards accounts.  This dividend is made directly available to members.  Member rewards account 
balances are included in the determination of total capital for internal and regulatory purposes.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), the regulator of Saskatchewan credit unions, has pre-
scribed capital adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements.  Effective July 1, 2013 the capital ad-
equacy rules issued by CUDGC have been revised and are now based on the Basel III capital standards framework 
established by the Bank of International Settlements and adopted by financial institutions around the globe, 
including Canadian banks. 
CUDGC prescribes four tests to assess the capital adequacy of credit unions: 

• Common Equity / Total Risk Weighted Assets
• Tier 1 Capital / Total Risk Weighted Assets
• Total Eligible Capital / Total Risk Weighted Assets
• Total Eligible Capital / Total Leverage Assets

Common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital is defined as a credit union’s primary capital and comprises the highest qual-
ity of capital elements.  Common equity capital for Innovation includes retained earnings less various deductions 
which include goodwill and intangible assets.  Total tier 1 capital includes common equity tier 1 capital plus 
additional forms of capital that qualify as a tier 1 classification.  Innovation Credit Union currently has no capital 
sources that qualify as additional tier 1.  Total eligible capital includes total tier 1 and tier 2 capital sources.  Tier 2 
capital sources include member shares, member equity account balances and the collective allowance.  Achiev-
ing minimum regulatory capital levels are paramount to Innovation.  Current board policies have been approved 
as follows:

This standard setting is the first line of defense to ensure capital levels exceed regulatory minimums even in 
times of significant loss or unplanned growth.  Capital planning is integral to Innovation’s business planning.  In-
novation’s business plan must demonstrate its ability to strive to meet board level capital standards.  In addition 
to striving to meet board level standards for capital adequacy, management (as part of the Strategic Financial 
Management Committee) sets operating objectives for capital levels.  Innovation manages capital to these oper-
ating objectives.  Balance sheet strategies are designed to ensure these capital levels are achieved in addition to 
achieving other strategies, such as growth and profitability targets.  
Innovation experienced strong capital growth in 2016, adding to its sound financial position.  In 2016 the total 
capital position of Innovation increased by $18.99 million from $174.78 million in 2015 to $193.74 million in 
2016.  These results represent an annual growth of 10.85% in 2016.  

In addition to this member distribution, Innovation views the no-fee personal account as another method by 
which profits are repatriated to the membership.  An upfront real-time benefit is provide to all personal members 
as there are no monthly service charge fees tied to this account. 
 
Innovation contributes a significant amount to Saskatchewan communities each year.  For 2016, $0.46 million 
($0.44 million in 2015) was returned to communities around the province in the form of contributions to various 
community projects.  This amount is included in operating expenses under the general business category. 
 
 
 
Capital management 
 
Innovation’s capital management framework is designed to maintain an optimal level of capital.  Accordingly, 
capital polices are designed to ensure that Innovation meets its regulatory capital requirement, meets its internal 
assessment of required capital and builds long-term membership value.  Innovation retains a portion of its annual 
earnings in order to meet these capital objectives.  Once these capital objectives are met, additional earnings are 
allocated to members through member distributions authorized by the board of directors.  The current member 
rewards program allocates earnings to member rewards accounts based on interest paid on qualifying loans and 
interest received on qualifying deposits during the year in which an allocation is declared.  Innovation has also 
implemented a dividend payment to members based on outstanding balances held in member rewards accounts.  
This dividend is made directly available to members.  Member rewards account balances are included in the 
determination of total capital for internal and regulatory purposes. 
 
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), the regulator of Saskatchewan credit unions, has 
prescribed capital adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements.  Effective July 1, 2013 the capital 
adequacy rules issued by CUDGC have been revised and are now based on the Basel III capital standards 
framework established by the Bank of International Settlements and adopted by financial institutions around the 
globe, including Canadian banks.   
 
CUDGC prescribes four tests to assess the capital adequacy of credit unions:  

 Common Equity / Total Risk Weighted Assets 
 Tier 1 Capital / Total Risk Weighted Assets 
 Total Eligible Capital / Total Risk Weighted Assets 
 Total Eligible Capital / Total Leverage Assets 

 
Common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital is defined as a credit union’s primary capital and comprises the highest 
quality of capital elements.  Common equity capital for Innovation includes retained earnings less various 
deductions which include goodwill and intangible assets.  Total tier 1 capital includes common equity tier 1 capital 
plus additional forms of capital that qualify as a tier 1 classification.  Innovation Credit Union currently has no 
capital sources that qualify as additional tier 1.  Total eligible capital includes total tier 1 and tier 2 capital sources.  
Tier 2 capital sources include member shares, member equity account balances and the collective allowance.  
Achieving minimum regulatory capital levels are paramount to Innovation.  Current board policies have been 
approved as follows: 
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The first capital adequacy ratio focuses on the common equity tier 1 capital (CET1) as a percentage of total risk 
weighted assets.  An improvement in this ratio was experienced in 2016 as shown below:

The second capital adequacy ratio focuses on total tier 1 capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets.  
This ratio also experienced an improvement in 2016 as shown below:

 
 
This standard setting is the first line of defense to ensure capital levels exceed regulatory minimums even in times 
of significant loss or unplanned growth.  Capital planning is integral to Innovation’s business planning.  
Innovation’s business plan must demonstrate its ability to strive to meet board level capital standards.  In addition 
to striving to meet board level standards for capital adequacy, management (as part of the Strategic Financial 
Management Committee) sets operating objectives for capital levels.  Innovation manages capital to these 
operating objectives.  Balance sheet strategies are designed to ensure these capital levels are achieved in addition 
to achieving other strategies, such as growth and profitability targets.   
 
Innovation experienced strong capital growth in 2016, adding to its sound financial position.  In 2016 the total 
capital position of Innovation increased by $18.99 million from $174.78 million in 2015 to $193.74 million in 2016.  
These results represent an annual growth of 10.85% in 2016.   
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The second capital adequacy ratio focuses on total tier 1 capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets.  This 
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to achieving other strategies, such as growth and profitability targets.   
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capital position of Innovation increased by $18.99 million from $174.78 million in 2015 to $193.74 million in 2016.  
These results represent an annual growth of 10.85% in 2016.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
The first capital adequacy ratio focuses on the common equity tier 1 capital (CET1) as a percentage of total risk 
weighted assets.  An improvement in this ratio was experienced in 2016 as shown below: 
 

 
 
 
 
The second capital adequacy ratio focuses on total tier 1 capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets.  This 
ratio also experienced an improvement in 2016 as shown below: 
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The second capital adequacy ratio focuses on total tier 1 capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets.  
This ratio also experienced an improvement in 2016 as shown below:

The third capital adequacy ratio focuses on total eligible capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets. 
While still trailing internal policy targets, improvement occurred in 2016 as shown below:

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The third capital adequacy ratio focuses on total eligible capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets. 
While still trailing internal policy targets, improvement occurred in 2016 as shown below: 
 

 
 
The final capital adequacy ratio focuses on total eligible capital as a percentage of total leverage assets.  This ratio 
is commonly referred to as the leverage ratio.  Total leverage assets include on-balance sheet assets less 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The third capital adequacy ratio focuses on total eligible capital as a percentage of total risk weighted assets. 
While still trailing internal policy targets, improvement occurred in 2016 as shown below: 
 

 
 
The final capital adequacy ratio focuses on total eligible capital as a percentage of total leverage assets.  This ratio 
is commonly referred to as the leverage ratio.  Total leverage assets include on-balance sheet assets less 
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The final capital adequacy ratio focuses on total eligible capital as a percentage of total leverage assets.  This 
ratio is commonly referred to as the leverage ratio.  Total leverage assets include on-balance sheet assets less 
deductions from capital along with specified off-balance sheet items such as the undrawn balances on approved 
loans and letters of credit.  This ratio experienced an improvement in 2016 as shown below:

deductions from capital along with specified off-balance sheet items such as the undrawn balances on approved 
loans and letters of credit.  This ratio experienced an improvement in 2016 as shown below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Enterprise Risk Management 
 
As a financial institution, Innovation Credit Union is exposed to a variety of risks. Each year Innovation Credit Union measures 
and assesses potential and existing risks in order to ensure the credit union is adequately prepared to serve our members and 
communities now and in the future. The enterprise risk management (ERM) process it is a requirement of credit unions in 
Saskatchewan as mandated by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation. The ERM approach is used for the 
identification, measurement and monitoring of risks. Innovation Credit Union has in place a rigorous evolving ERM program 
and framework that on a structured basis actively manages all of its risks. 
 
 

Risk Governance 
 
Risk governance sets the risk appetite and policy, it determines an appropriate organizational structure and defines authority 
and responsibility for risk decisions.  The following groups and committees have the authority and responsibility for risk 
decisions within Innovation Credit Union. 
 
 
Board of Directors: 

• Approve risk policies and overall risk appetite, and oversees execution of our ERM program by management 
• Monitor overall risk profile, key and emerging risks and risk management activities 
• Review and assess the impact of business strategies, opportunities and initiatives on overall risk position 

 
 
The Risk and Conduct Review Committee and the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board: 

• Monitors major risks and recommends acceptable risk levels to the board 

Enterprise Risk Management
As a financial institution, Innovation Credit Union is exposed to a variety of risks. Each year Innovation Credit 
Union measures and assesses potential and existing risks in order to ensure the credit union is adequately 
prepared to serve our members and communities now and in the future. The enterprise risk management (ERM) 
process it is a requirement of credit unions in Saskatchewan as mandated by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee 
Corporation. The ERM approach is used for the identification, measurement and monitoring of risks. Innovation 
Credit Union has in place a rigorous evolving ERM program and framework that on a structured basis actively 
manages all of its risks.
Risk Governance
Risk governance sets the risk appetite and policy, it determines an appropriate organizational structure and 
defines authority and responsibility for risk decisions.  The following groups and committees have the authority 
and responsibility for risk decisions within Innovation Credit Union.
Board of Directors:

• Approve risk policies and overall risk appetite, and oversees execution of our ERM program by management
• Monitor overall risk profile, key and emerging risks and risk management activities
• Review and assess the impact of business strategies, opportunities and initiatives on overall risk position

The Risk and Conduct Review Committee and the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board:
• Monitors major risks and recommends acceptable risk levels to the board
• Reviews the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and compliance practices
• Provides oversight of external and internal audit functions



20

Executive Management:
• Implements strategies and policies approved by the board
• Develops processes that identify, measure, monitor and control risks
• Co-ordinates the completion and documentation of board and operating policy and procedures
• Co-ordinates the strategic and operational planning process
• Oversees the insurance risk management program
• Establishes credit policies and oversees credit risk management
• Monitors credit risk profile, and risk exposures
• Monitors compliance with credit risk policies

Enterprise Risk Committee (ERC)
• Identification of possible new risks
• Measurement of risk by analysis in terms of probability, and impact in the context of current controls and 

strategies as operationally implemented
• Evaluation and prioritization of risks 
• Implementation and monitoring of risk control strategies including development of remediation strategies 

as well as action plan treatments 
• Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management system

Internal Audit, Compliance and ERM areas:
These specialized areas each have a direct channel to report to the Risk and Conduct Review Committee and the 
Audit and Finance Committee of the Board.

• Monitor compliance with policy and procedure and assess the adequacy of controls
• Provide independent and objective assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and control 

processes to management and the respective Committees of the Board
• Oversee enterprise-wide management of risk and compliance throughout the organization

Strategic Financial Management Committee (SFM):
• Establishes market and liquidity risk policies and oversees related programs and practices
• Monitors overall market and liquidity risk profile, key and emerging risk exposures and risk management 

activities
• Monitors compliance with market and liquidity risk policies
• Establishes balance sheet operational strategies with a focus on achieving financial targets, managing 

marketing and liquidity risk, and optimizing the use of capital
Corporate Finance:

• Establishes capital management policies and oversees related strategies and practices
• Monitors capital and liquidity position
• Establishes pricing policies and tools
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Significant Risk Areas
Through Enterprise Risk Management, six categories of risk were identified as significant to Innovation Credit 
Union and they are as follows:
A. Strategic Risk
Strategic risk is the risk that adverse business decisions, ineffective or inappropriate business plans or failure to 
respond to changes in the competitive environment, customer preferences, product obsolescence or resource 
allocation will impact our ability to meet our objectives.  This risk is a function of the compatibility of an 
organization’s strategic goals, the business strategies developed to achieve these goals, the resources deployed 
against these goals and the quality of implementation.
Key Strategic Risks
Strategic risk is inherent in providing products and services to consumers. The Board direction and how it is 
translated into day-to-day activities must be compatible with what the consumer wants.  Products and services 
must be competitive and profitable and resources must be used appropriately in order for Innovation Credit 
Union to be successful.
Strategic Risk Management
Innovation Credit Union has annual strategic planning sessions for the Board and Executive Management.  
Strategic objectives, performance measures and key initiatives are identified and form part of the balanced 
scorecard which is communicated to all staff and used to measure organizational performance.  Strategies 
are regularly reviewed and adapted as necessary due to the changing financial environment. Management is 
responsible to execute business plans and quarterly progress reports track performance.
B. Market Risk
Market risk is the exposure to potential loss from changes in market prices or rates.  Losses can occur when 
values of assets and liabilities or revenues are adversely affected by changes in market conditions, such as 
interest rate or foreign exchange movements. 
Key Market Risks
The key risk in this category are market changes and other specific risks including  price risk, interest rate risk, 
foreign exchange risk and derivatives risk which can impact the credit union’s financial strength.  At Innovation 
Credit Union, market risk primarily arises from movements in interest rates, and is caused specifically from timing 
differences in the re- pricing of assets and liabilities, both on and off statement of financial position.
Market Risk Management
Effective management of market risk includes documented policies which address roles and responsibilities, 
delegation of authority and limits, risk measurement and reporting, valuation and back testing, hedging policies 
and exception management. Some elements of market risk management have been discussed in other parts 
of this report. Market risk exposure limits have been set in Innovation Credit Union policy; methods of scenario 
and stress testing are carried out to determine if the limits are exceeded. The corporate finance department is 
responsible for reporting on and monitoring market risk, with oversight by the Audit and Finance Committee 
of the Board. Corporate finance monitors market risk exposure by measuring the impact of interest rates on 
the financial position and earnings through a number of models and tests given various interest rate scenarios. 
Interest rate risk management includes the use of derivatives to exchange floating rate and fixed rate cash flows.
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C. Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet obligations, such as liability maturities, deposit withdrawals, or 
funding loans without incurring unacceptable losses.  Liquidity risk includes the inability to manage unplanned 
decreases or changes in funding sources.
Key Liquidity Risks
Liquidity risk falls into three categories: Mismatch – the risk that the demand for repayment of deposit 
obligations will outstrip the capacity to raise new liabilities or liquidate assets. Contingent – the risk of not 
having sufficient funds to meet future sudden and unexpected short-term obligations. Market – the inability to 
sell assets at or near fair market value.  The key risk identified in this area is if liquidity restraints impact member 
service, financial strength and reputation.
Liquidity Risk Management
Innovation Credit Union uses a variety of sources to fund operating requirements, such as: member deposits, 
cash and securities, lines of credit and corporate borrowings, sale of assets through securitization and 
syndication and provincial and national statutory liquidity programs. Some of these sources of funds are 
immediate and some require more long-term planning.
The elements of liquidity risk management are similar to the other risk categories already discussed. Effective 
management of liquidity involves policies, limits, reporting and proactive management.  Liquidity policies and 
limits are well documented at Innovation Credit Union. The liquidity risk management plan is updated annually 
and presented to the Board. Corporate finance measures and monitors available liquidity daily, weekly and 
forward over a twelve-month time horizon. The Audit and Finance Committee of the Board receives quarterly 
reports on the liquidity position and sets operating targets. The Board also receives regular reports on liquidity. 
D. Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a borrower or counterparty’s inability to meet its obligations. 
Key Credit Risks
At Innovation Credit Union, credit risk comes primarily from our direct lending activities and to a lesser extent, 
our holdings of investment securities. Individual risks identified in this category are; default risk, portfolio 
concentration risk, inadequate allowance risk, and policy exceptions risk.  The key risk is that asset impairments 
could impact financial strength.
Credit Risk Management
Credit risk management focuses on underwriting and pricing loans according to their risk and ensuring the 
overall portfolio is well diversified. There are five parts to credit risk management including policy, credit 
granting, monitoring and exposure, portfolio management and audit.
Tolerances and lending practices are set by Board and operating policy and procedure. Review and revision of 
lending policy and procedures is done on an ongoing basis with regular reviews and updates.
Credit granting includes analysis, pricing, terms and documentation of lending. Loan pricing tools are in place to 
support lenders in pricing decisions. Consistent lending documentation is used by all Innovation Credit Union 
branches.
Reports based on North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes are used to monitor exposure by 
industry.
The Audit and Finance Committee and the board committee meet on a quarterly basis and review liquidity and 
capital risk as well as financial results on a quarterly basis.
The internal audit department carries out credit review as part of their regular, ongoing audit plan.
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E. Legal & Regulatory Risk
Legal and regulatory risk is the risk arising from potential violation of, or nonconformance with laws, rules, 
regulations, prescribed practices, or ethical standards.
Key Legal & Regulatory Risks
As a financial institution, Innovation Credit Union operates in a heavily regulated environment.  In addition, each 
of the industries that our subsidiary companies operate in has their own specific regulatory requirements. As a 
business operating within Saskatchewan, we are also subject to all provincial and federal legislation applicable 
to our operations, such as labour and anti-money laundering laws. Key risk in this category is that compliance 
failures impact operational effectiveness, member service and Innovation Credit Union’s reputation.
Legal & Regulatory Risk Management
Governance, policy and procedures and awareness aid Innovation Credit Union in complying with laws and 
regulations, and therefore, are effective ways to manage legal and regulatory risk. Innovation Credit Union has 
established compliance functions that provide an oversight role to ensure that operational areas are aware of 
applicable laws and regulations. The compliance functions are also responsible to co-ordinate reporting to the 
Risk and Conduct Review Committee of the Board on compliance.
There are specific departments that are responsible for creating and updating operating policy and procedures. 
These departments are responsible to make sure that policy and procedures take into consideration all 
applicable legal and regulatory parameters.
All departments are knowledgeable in the regulations that pertain to their areas. In some cases third party 
expertise is used through contracted services. For example, Concentra Financial is our resource for trust and 
estate services and is the administrator of our registered products. The governance area also provides support to 
Innovation Credit Union in regulatory matters and external legal advice is sought when necessary.
F. Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or 
external events. Exposures to this risk arise from deficiencies in internal controls, technology failures, human 
error, employee integrity or natural disasters.
Key Operational Risks
At Innovation Credit Union, operational risk exists in all products and services and our delivery of them, including 
supporting back office processes and systems. We categorize our operating risk into three main areas; people, 
systems and processes.  People refers to our human resources area and includes risks such as the ability to attract 
and retain appropriate talent.  Systems address technology and our reliance on it, encompassing such risks as 
a security breach or failure of a critical system for an extended period. Processes are the way we do things and 
include risks such as inadequate policy or procedures.
Key risks in this category are inefficient systems and processes impact on cost effectiveness, customer service 
and employee satisfaction; insufficient management information system impact on decision making; problems 
with banking system impact on customer service, staff and resources; the talent management strategy is 
ineffective in managing our human resources to ensure a highly motivated, engaged workforce.
Operational Risk Management
It is often difficult to quantify and track this kind of risk, but, as with all other categories, the use of policy and 
procedures and controls and monitoring are the most effective ways to manage operational risk.
Innovation Credit Union has online procedures available for most processes related to product and service 
delivery and retail operations. Updates and additions to these procedures are continuous. 
A formal Business Continuity plan has been developed and implemented to allow Innovation to react to possible 
events that could disrupt normal business operations.  Processes are reviewed and updated on a regular basis.



24

Operational risk relating to people is managed by having documented procedures and by strong talent 
management practices such as employee training and performance management. This is an ever evolving area 
and is under constant change. More work is being done on procedural development as processes and product 
and service changes occur.
Risk related to systems is managed through effective and secure technology solutions.  
Innovation Credit Union has comprehensive insurance coverage in place for property, liability and financial 
operations.
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The governance of Innovation Credit Union is anchored in the co-operative 
principle of democratic member control.

Governing Legislation and Regulation
Innovation Credit Union (the Credit Union) is regulated by The Credit Union 
Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Saskatchewan (the Corporation).  The 
credit union must comply with The Credit Union Act, 1998; the Credit Union 
Regulations 1999; The Standards of Sound Business Practice; credit union 
bylaws and policy; and, other applicable provincial and federal laws.  The 
Credit Union provides regular reporting to the Corporation and is subject to 
periodic risk based examinations.

Credit Union Governance Framework
Innovation Credit Union is committed to meeting the standards of legal 
and regulatory requirements in order to maintain member confidence and 
demonstrate financial success.

Code of Conduct and Ethics   
On an annual basis, every director, officer and employee must sign and 
acknowledge that they have read, understood and complied with the code of 
conduct.   

Board of Directors
Mandate and Responsibilities

The board is responsible for the strategic oversight, business direction and 
supervision of management of Innovation Credit Union. In acting in the best 
interests of the credit union and its members, the board’s actions adhere to 
the standards set out in The Credit Union Act 1998, the Standards of Sound 
Business Practice and other applicable legislation.

Key roles include:
Each board member shall:

• meet qualifications pursuant to section 102 of the Act;

• act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the 
credit union;

• exercise the care, diligence and skill a reasonably prudent person would 
exercise in comparable circumstances; and

• comply and cause the credit union to comply with legislation pertaining 
to credit unions, orders of the Registrar, orders of the Corporation, the 
Standards, financial and business practice directives, and the credit 
union’s articles and bylaws. The credit union board of directors is 
ultimately responsible for ensuring the credit union is managed and 
operated in a sound and prudent manner.

2016 
Innovation Credit Union 

Board of Directors

Gord Lightfoot

Ian Twidale
2nd Vice President

Gwen Humphrey

Denis Perrault
Resigned Sept 26th

Russ Siemens

Jerome Bru

Darlene Kingwell

Bryon Zanyk
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Bruce Sack
President

Mike Davis
1st Vice President



Board Composition
The board is composed of 10 individuals elected on a district basis. Terms are three years and tenure is limited 
to four consecutive terms. Nominations are made by submission of nomination papers to the Corporate 
Governance and People Committee through the process identified in the credit union bylaws. Voting is by 
electronic and/or paper and voting is open for 18 days and election results are announced at Innovation Credit 
Union’s annual general meeting. 
Committees
The responsibilities of the board of a modern financial services organization involve an ever-growing list of 
duties. Innovation Credit Union maintains a number of committees comprised of directors. This partitioning 
of responsibilities enables a clear focus on specific areas of activity vital to the effective operation of our credit 
union. In addition to the standing committees, an “Ad Hoc” Committee – Innovation 2020 Federal Continuance 
Committee - was formed in the Fall of 2016 for the purpose of our project to become a national credit union by 
the year 2020.

• Audit and Finance Committee

The Audit and Finance Committee oversees the financial reporting process, reviews financial statements, 
liaises with internal and external auditors and regulators, and reviews internal control procedures. The 
committee consists of at least four directors. The board determines the skills and abilities needed on the 
committee and assigns directors accordingly. 

• Corporate Governance and People Committee

The Corporate Governance and People Committee establish and maintain effective governance guidelines, 
ensure the performance and succession of senior leadership, monitor people practices, and ensure 
compliance with governance policies and Innovation Credit Union bylaws. The Committee oversees the 
nomination and election processes for elections of credit union directors. The committee is chosen through 
an expression of interest by the director and assigned accordingly. 

• Risk & Conduct Review Committee

The Risk & Conduct Review Committee ensures that Innovation Credit Union acts with the full integrity and 
objectivity of its directors and employees, by having in place policies, processes and practices that protect 
people and the organization from claims and from the perception of unfair benefit or conflict of interest. The 
committee is chosen through an expression of interest by the director and assigned accordingly.

• Community and Member Relation Committee 

The Community and Member Relation Committee ensures an effective framework for social responsibility 
by ensuring the credit union is effectively linked to and contributing to the community.  To establish 
efficient and effective service delivery channels to serve current and future members and to oversee the 
implementation of member education programs as well as maintain an effective mechanism to understand 
member needs and ensure the membership’s voice is integrated in governance and operations. The 
committee is chosen through an expression of interest by the director and assigned accordingly.

• Subsidiary Board 

The Subsidiary Board has three directors who oversee the operation of the Subsidiary Companies to 
ensure compliance legislatively, in conjunction with executive management representation.  In 2016, it was 
determined that the subsidiary board was no longer required and oversight of subsidiaries was delegated to 
the management team.  The Subsidiary Board was disbanded in July, 2016.  

Compensation and Attendance 
In 2016 the board schedule was amended.  In an effort to gain efficiencies, use time effectively and to ensure 
the strategic focus of the board the practice of holding monthly meetings was amended.  The board moved 
to holding a regular board meeting following each quarter end as well as a separate meeting in December to 
approve the strategic and financial plan.  In addition to the regular board meetings, the credit union has each 
standing committee meet prior to the regular board meeting to discuss relevant information and bring
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recommendations to the regular board meeting.  The board also held a dedicated planning session as well as 
dedicate development sessions.

Compensation
The Corporate Governance and People Committee reviews directors’ compensation annually to ensure it is 
competitive and consistent with peer credit unions. In 2016, the total remuneration paid to all directors was 
$214,152; (2015 - $232,475); (2014 - $212,237).  Travel costs associated with the responsibilities of fulfilling their 
obligation to be an effective director were $28,823; (2015 - $24,915); (2014 - $18,722).  Travel costs also include 
hotel accommodations for attending meeting/training away from home.
The following table summarizes the board of director attendance for regular board as well as committee 
meetings in 2016.

All directors have met their meeting attendance requirements as set in the bylaws. In addition to the meetings 
listed above, the board also held 3 days of additional meetings.

(1) Corporate Governance and People Committee 
(2) Audit & Finance Committee  
(3) Risk & Conduct Review Committee
(4) Community & Member Relation Committee

(5) Subsidiary Board
(6) Innovation 2020, Federal Continuance Committee 

- Ad Hoc
(7) Sask Central Delegate
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The following table summarizes the board of director attendance for regular board as well as 
committee meetings in 2016. 

 
Director Board Meeting  

Attendance 
Committee Mtg 
Attendance 

Bruce Sack (board chair)  5 of 5 (100%) President is invited to all 
committee meetings as 
ex-officio 

Mike Davis (1st Vice) 
(2), (3), (5), (6) 

5 of 5 (100%) 13 of 13 (100%) 

Ian Twidale (2nd Vice) 
(3), (4) 

5 of 5 (100%) 8 of 8 (100%) 

Russ Siemens (2), (4), 
(6), (7) 

5 of 5 (100%) 7 of 9 (100%) recorded as 
100% due to absence 
being related to credit 
union system meetings. 

Jerome Bru (1), (2, (3), 
(6) 

5 of 5 (100%) 12 of 12 (100%) 

Gwen Humphrey (1),  
(3), (4), (6) 

5 of 5 (100%) 11 of 11 (100%) 

Darlene Kingwell (1), (4), 
(5) 

5 of 5 (100%) 12 of 12 (100%) 

Gord Lightfoot (1), (2), 
(5) 5 of 5 (100%) 7 of 7 (100%) 

Denis Perrault (2), (3)  
Resigned – Sept 26,  2016 3 of 3 (100%) 8 of 8 (100%) 

Bryon Zanyk (3), (4) 
Elected - April 2016 

4 of 4 (100%) 6 of 6 (100%) 

 
(1) Corporate Governance and People Committee    
(2) Audit & Finance Committee   
(3) Risk & Conduct Review Committee 
(4) Community & Member Relations Committee 
(5) Subsidiary Board 
(6) Innovation 2020 Federal Continuance Committee – Ad hoc 
(7) Sask Central – Delegate – President 
 

All directors have met their meeting attendance requirements as set in the bylaws. In 
addition to the meetings listed above, the board also held 3 days of strategic planning 
meetings - 2 days in May as well as 1 day in October.  



Director Training/Development
During 2016, the board continued to demonstrate their educational due diligence with all four of our Accredited 
Directors maintaining their accreditation by completed required classes.  Accredited Directors through Dalhousie 
University are Darlene Kingwell, Bruce Sack, Russ Siemens and Ian Twidale.  Mike Davis graduated from the 
Institute of Corporate Directors Program (ICD) and Russ Siemens also maintained his ICD.D by completing the 
required classes. Russ Siemens participated in an intensive Fintech certificate course: Future Commerce from 
the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.  We also had six board members attend a three day Governance 
Leadership course through the Rotman School of Management offered at the Saskatoon Edwards School of 
Business.  Directors also participated in other various training and webinars.  The credit union supported Board 
of Directors in attending conferences.  On average there was $9,259/director spent on training and conferences.

In 2016, the Board has developed a competency matrix which outlines what the ideal competency level would 
be for all positions that make up the structure of the Innovation Credit Union Board of Directors.  Currently, no 
minimum developmental standards are required to serve any position on the board, thus this matrix does not 
exclude participation.  These specific considerations are helpful to directors as they build their development 
plan.  As well, they should be taken into consideration during the re-organization meeting in selecting 
committee members.  The competencies identified are as follows:

 Co-operative Industry Directorships held by Directors
- Director, Russ Siemens, serves as a SaskCentral delegate as well as chair of the SaskCentral board of directors.  

He also serves on the Concentra Financial board of directors.  

- Directors, Darlene Kingwell and Russ Siemens, serve on the Public Policy Committee at SaskCentral.  This 
provides important guidance for the advocacy and government relations priorities for the Saskatchewan 
credit union system.

Evaluation
Regular in camera meetings are held without management personnel in attendance to evaluate the board 
meeting performance.  As well all Board members were involved in a board assessment exercise facilitated by 
an outside resource (Central1) to evaluate the board performance in preparing and conducting the credit union 
business.

Roles and Responsibilities
Executive Management – active planners and decision makers; ensure appropriate information is provided to 
the Board. Innovation Credit Union has an experienced executive management team. This team is responsible to 
provide leadership and direction for the credit union’s current and future operations

CEO Performance Management - The Board is responsible for developing performance objectives for the CEO, 
evaluating performance and recommending the CEO’s compensation. Emphasis is placed on appropriate 
balance to incent achievement of short-term objectives and long-term success. The board determines the form 
and amount of CEO compensation based on market data, recommendations from consultants.  The Board utilizes 
an external party to facilitate the CEO performance management process.

• Corporate social responsibility / community 
involvement

• Credit Unions & Co-operatives
• Financial industry knowledge
• Financial literacy / financial acumen
• Governance & ethics

• Risk management
• Strategic Planning
• Human resources
• Leadership
• Technology
• Regulatory Environment
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

TO THE MEMBERS OF INNOVATION CREDIT UNION 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Innovation Credit Union, 

which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016, and the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 

internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion.  

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

financial position of Innovation Credit Union as at December 31, 2016, and its financial performance 

and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards. 

 

  



Innovation Credit Union 
February 28, 2017 
Page 2 
 

 

   

Emphasis of Matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, 

which explains that certain comparative information for the year ended December 31, 2015 has been 

restated. 

 

 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Licensed Professional Accountants 

 

Regina, Saskatchewan 

February 28, 2017 





INNOVATION CREDIT UNION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

year ended December 31, 2016

2016 2015
Note Restated (Note 20)

INTEREST INCOME
Loans $ 72,605,505                  $ 70,055,015                  
Investments 20 5,263,793                    5,009,989                    

77,869,298                  75,065,004                  

INTEREST EXPENSE
Deposits 14,741,033                  15,413,617                  
Borrowed money 2,371,376                    2,023,208                    
Derivative instruments 1,307,120                    1,387,842                    
Member distributions 13 3,380,000                    3,260,000                    

21,799,529                  22,084,667                  

NET INTEREST INCOME BEFORE CREDIT LOSSES 56,069,769                  52,980,337                  

PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES 6 1,039,037                    530,944                       
NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR

CREDIT LOSSES 55,030,732                  52,449,393                  
UNREALIZED GAIN (LOSS) ON HELD-FOR-TRADING

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2,638,842                    (2,054,566)                   
OTHER INCOME 12 & 20 21,060,298                  20,028,507                  
NET INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME 78,729,872                  70,423,334                  

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel 32,809,411                  31,859,194                  
Security 1,967,636                    1,924,843                    
Organizational 1,001,126                    1,011,531                    
Occupancy 3,989,916                    3,519,010                    
General business 16,887,321                  15,540,671                  

56,655,410                  53,855,249                  

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 22,074,462                  16,568,085                  
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 

Current 19 & 20 5,498,223                    4,205,455                    
Deferred 19 (1,273,992)                   (1,624,647)                   

4,224,231                    2,580,808                    

NET INCOME 17,850,231                  13,987,277                  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (NET OF TAX)

Items that may subsequently be re-classified through profit and loss:
(Loss) Gain in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets (1,247,099)                   732,843                       

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME $ 16,603,132                  $ 14,720,120                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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INNOVATION CREDIT UNION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

year ended December 31, 2016

Accumulated
Retained other Total
earnings comprehensive equity

Restated (Note 20) income Restated (Note 20)

Balance at January 1, 2014 $ 129,525,589              $ 2,163,453                  $ 131,689,042              
Net income (restated) 17,039,786                17,039,786                
Other comprehensive income:
  Change in fair value of available-for-sale
    financial assets 945,392                     945,392                     

Tax impact (133,477)                    (133,477)                    
Balance at December 31, 2014 (restated) 146,565,375              2,975,368                  149,540,743              
Net income (restated) 13,987,277                -                                13,987,277                
Other comprehensive income:
  Change in fair value of available-for-sale
    financial assets -                                865,383                     865,383                     

Tax impact -                                (132,540)                    (132,540)                    
Balance at January 1, 2016 (restated) 160,552,652              3,708,211                  164,260,863              
Net income 17,850,231                -                                17,850,231                
Other comprehensive income:
  Change in fair value of available-for-sale
    financial assets -                                (1,485,172)                 (1,485,172)                 

Tax impact -                                238,073                     238,073                     

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 178,402,883              $ 2,461,112                  $ 180,863,995              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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INNOVATION CREDIT UNION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

year ended December 31, 2016

2015
2016 Restated (Note 20)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income $ 17,850,231                $ 13,987,277                
Adjustments for

Depreciation - property and equipment 2,376,476                  2,296,708                  
Amortization - intangible assets 509,406                     606,164                     
Net interest income (56,069,769)               (52,924,855)               
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (363,278) (4,054)                        
Deferred income tax recovery (1,273,992)                 (1,624,647)                 
Provision for credit losses 1,039,037                  530,944                     
Unrealized and realized loss on financial instruments 1,855,574                  3,741,606                  
Current income tax expense 5,498,223                  4,205,455                  

(28,578,092)               (29,185,402)               

Changes in non-cash working capital
Accounts receivable (60,029)                      (19,310)                      
Prepaid expenses (102,800)                    (204,175)                    
Derivative assets (1,174,249)                 308,384                     
Net loan advances (132,203,484)             (168,342,767)             
Accounts payable (3,976,672)                 3,528,702                  
Derivative liabilities (1,620,522)                 2,321,009                  
Net change in deposits 98,480,997                126,487,086              
Deferred revenue 314,400                     467,245                     

(68,920,451)               (64,639,228)               
Cash generated from operations

Interest received 76,775,597                76,453,612                
Interest paid (21,297,656)               (21,402,994)               
Income taxes paid (4,688,099)                 (4,750,148)                 

(18,130,609)               (14,338,758)               

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments (52,267,021)               (13,654,185)               
Purchase of property and equipment (1,164,328)                 (2,458,226)                 
Purchase of intangible assets (110,378)                    (117,369)                    
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 472,114                     99,289                       

(53,069,613)               (16,130,491)               

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net change in securitized borrowing 43,396,585                31,894,461                
Membership distributions paid (1,416,865)                 (1,355,700)                 
Increase in membership shares 12,665                       4,820                         

41,992,385                30,543,581                
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS (29,207,837)               74,332                       
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 52,594,980                52,520,648                
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR $ 23,387,143                $ 52,594,980                

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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1. REPORTING ENTITY 
 
Innovation Credit Union and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Credit Union”) is a credit union 
domiciled in Canada. The address of the Credit Union’s registered office is 198 1st Avenue NE, 
Swift Current, Saskatchewan. The Credit Union is a financial service provider. 
 
The Credit Union was continued pursuant to The Credit Union Act, 1998 of the Province of 
Saskatchewan, and operates twenty-three Credit Union advice centres. The Credit Union serves 
members and non-members in North Battleford, Swift Current and surrounding areas. In 
accordance with The Credit Union Act, 1998, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation 
(“CUDGC”), a provincial corporation, guarantees the repayment of all deposits held in 
Saskatchewan credit unions, including accrued interest. 

 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). 
  
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 were authorized 
for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on February 28, 2017. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost basis unless 
otherwise noted in the significant accounting policies. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Credit Union’s functional currency.  
 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 
goods and services. 

 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarized below. These accounting policies have been applied consistently to 
all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.  
 
Use of Estimates, Key Judgments and Assumptions 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities at the date of these consolidated financial statements as well as 
the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting year. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Use of Estimates, Key Judgments and Assumptions (continued) 
 
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the year in which the estimate was revised and in any future years affected. 
 
The most significant uses of judgments, estimates and assumptions are as follows: 
 
a) Valuation of Financial Instruments 
 

The Credit Union determines the fair value of financial instruments for which there is no 
observable market price using a variety of valuation techniques as described in the Fair Value 
of Financial Instruments accounting policy later in Note 3. The inputs to these models are 
derived from observable market data where possible, but where observable market data is not 
available, judgment is required to establish fair values. The judgments include consideration of 
liquidity and other risks affecting the specific instrument. See also Note 16 “Classification and 
fair value of financial instruments” for further discussion. 
 
b) Determination of Allowance for Credit Losses 
 

The individual allowance component of the total allowance for impairment applies to financial 
assets evaluated individually for impairment. In particular, management judgment is required in 
the estimate of the amount and timing of the future cash flows the Credit Union expects to 
receive from these specific loans. These estimates are based on a number of factors, including 
the net realizable value of any underlying collateral. 
 
The collective allowance component covers credit losses in portfolios of loans with similar 
credit risk characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that a loss has been 
incurred but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified. In assessing the collective 
allowance, management considers factors such as credit quality, historical loss experience and 
current economic conditions. 

 

See also the significant accounting policy note on “Loans” later in Note 3 and Note 6 “Loans” 
for further discussion on allowance for credit losses. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Use of Estimates, Key Judgments and Assumptions (continued) 
 

c) Securitized Borrowings 
 
The Credit Union securitizes groups of assets by selling them to an independent special purpose 
or qualifying special purpose entity (“SPE”) or trust. Such transactions create liquidity for the 
Credit Union and release capital for future needs. As the Credit Union remains exposed to 
credit risk, the underlying loans have not been derecognized and are reported in the Credit 
Union’s consolidated statement of financial position as secured borrowings. Securitized loans 
are derecognized from the consolidated statement of financial position when substantially all of 
the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the SPE. Judgment is required in making 
this determination. Further information about the Credit Union’s securitization activities is set 
out in Note 11. 
 

d) Property and Equipment 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values require estimation and are reviewed 
annually and adjusted if appropriate. 
 

e) Goodwill 
 
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Calculation of 
impairment losses requires estimation of the value in use and fair value less costs to sell of 
cash-generating units (“CGU”s) that goodwill has been allocated to.  Judgment is required to 
allocate goodwill between CGU’s. 
 
f) Intangible Assets 
 
Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values require estimation and are reviewed 
annually and adjusted if appropriate. 
 
g) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. These are called 
CGUs and the allocation of assets to CGUs requires estimation and judgment. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Use of Estimates, Key Judgments and Assumptions (continued) 

 

h) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (continued) 
 
An impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit and loss if the carrying amount of an 
asset or a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. There is estimation uncertainty in the 
determination of the recoverable amounts for CGUs. 

 
Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed 
immediately through profit and loss if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
 

Basis of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Credit Union and 
its subsidiaries. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements after eliminating inter-company transactions and balances. 
 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. Control is achieved where the Credit 
Union has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date control commences until the date that control 
ceases. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using uniform accounting 
policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 

 

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following entities controlled by the 
Credit Union: 
 

Subsidiary Head office

Book value of 

shares Voting rights

Innovative Holdings Inc. Swift Current 102$                100%
North Battleford Agencies (1980) Ltd. North Battleford 43$                 100%
Meadow North Agencies Ltd. Meadow Lake 400$                100%
Dickson Agencies (1975) Ltd. Swift Current 1,559$             100%
Meota Insurance Agency Inc. Meota 100$                100%  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments 
 

All financial instruments are initially recognized at their fair value, plus transaction costs, 
except in the case of financial assets and liabilities classified as fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL”). The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on the 
purpose and management’s intention for which the financial instruments were acquired or 
issued, their characteristics and the Credit Union’s designation of such instruments. 
Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the financial instruments have been 
classified as FVTPL, available-for-sale (“AFS”), held-to-maturity (“HTM”), loans and 
receivables, or other financial liabilities. 
 
The Credit Union uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial 
asset transactions. 

 
Transaction costs 
 
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or 
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. Transaction costs include fees and 
commissions paid to agents, advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and 
securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt 
premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs. The Credit 
Union recognizes transaction costs as part of the carrying amount of all financial instruments, 
except for those financial instruments classified as FVTPL where transaction costs are 
expensed as incurred. 
 
Effective interest method 
 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset 
or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts or payments (including all fees or points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability on initial recognition. 

 

Financial instrument classifications 
 
The Credit Union is required to classify all financial assets either as FVTPL, AFS, HTM, or 
loans and receivables and financial liabilities are classified as either FVTPL or other liabilities. 
An explanation of the nature of these classifications follows. The Credit Union’s classifications 
of its financial instruments are disclosed in Note 16.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
a) HTM 
 
HTM financial assets are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity dates that the Credit Union has the positive intention and ability to hold until their 
maturity date, and which are not designated as FVTPL or as AFS. 

 
HTM financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method less any impairment, with revenue recognized on an effective yield basis. 

 
b) FVTPL 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL when the financial instrument 
is either held-for-trading or it is designated as a FVTPL financial instrument. 

 
A financial asset or financial liability is classified as held for trading, if: 

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or 
• on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the 

Credit Union manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or 

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 
 
A financial asset or financial liability other than a financial asset or financial liability held-for-
trading may be designated as FVTPL upon initial recognition if: 

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or 

• the financial asset or financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or 
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis, in accordance with the Credit Union’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that 
basis; or 

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives. 
 

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-
measurement recognized immediately in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognized in profit 
or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in 
Investment Income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described under “Fair Value of Financial Instruments” later in  
Note 3. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

c) AFS 
 
AFS financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as AFS and that are 
not classified in any of the other categories. Unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot 
be reliably measured are carried at cost. All other AFS financial assets are carried at fair value. 
Fair value is determined in the manner described under “Fair Value of Financial Instruments” 
later in Note 3. 

 

Interest income is recognized in profit and loss using the effective interest method. Dividend 
income is recognized in profit and loss when the Credit Union becomes entitled to the dividend. 
Foreign exchange gains or losses on AFS debt security investments are recognized immediately 
in profit and loss. Other fair value changes are recognized in other comprehensive income until 
the investment is sold or impaired, whereupon the cumulative gains and losses previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit and loss as a 
reclassification adjustment. 

 

d) Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market and that the Credit Union does not intend to 
sell immediately or in the near term. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income, 
calculated using the effective interest rate method, is recognized in profit and loss. 

 

e) Other financial liabilities 
 
Other financial liabilities include liabilities that have not been classified as FVTPL. Other 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Interest expense, calculated using the effective interest rate method, is recognized in 
profit and loss. 
 
Derivative financial instruments 

 
The Credit Union uses interest rate swap derivatives to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. 
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date that the derivative contract is 
entered into and subsequently measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized 
through profit and loss immediately, unless the derivative is designated in a qualifying hedging 
relationship. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Embedded derivatives 
 
Derivatives embedded in other non-derivative financial instruments or other host contracts are 
separated from their host contracts and accounted for as a separate derivative when their 
economic characteristics and risk are not closely related to those of the host contract, a separate 
instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a 
derivative, and the combined instrument or contract is not measured at FVTPL. Embedded 
derivatives that are accounted for as separate derivatives are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized in profit and loss immediately. As at December 31, 2016, the 
Credit Union has embedded derivatives that require bifurcation in its index-linked deposit 
products. 

 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or 
a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the 
measurement date. 
 
Fair values are determined, where possible, by reference to quoted bid or asking prices in an 
active market. In the absence of an active market, the Credit Union determines fair value based 
on internal or external valuation models, such as discounted cash flow analysis or using 
observable market based inputs (bid and ask price) for instruments with similar characteristics 
and risk profiles. 

 
The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements of financial instruments recognized in the 
consolidated statement of financial position using the following three-tier fair value hierarchy, 
which reflects the significance of the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows: 

 
 Level 1: Quoted market prices (unadjusted) are available in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities; 
 Level 2: Fair value measurements are derived from inputs other than quoted prices that 

are included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly; and 

 Level 3: Fair value measurements derived from valuation techniques that include 
significant unobservable inputs. 

 
Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to that fair value measurement. This assessment requires judgment, 
considering factors specific to an asset or a liability and may affect placement within the fair 
value hierarchy. See Note 16 for further discussion on the classification and fair value of 
financial instruments. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
Financial asset impairment 

 
The Credit Union assesses financial assets, other than those carried at FVTPL, for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting year. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is 
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the asset have been 
affected. 
 
For an equity security investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. For all other  
financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include significant financial difficulty 
of the issuer or counterparty, default or delinquency by the borrower, indications that the 
borrower will enter bankruptcy, disappearance of an active market for the security, other 
observable data relating to a portfolio of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of 
borrowers in the portfolio, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults 
on the assets in the portfolio. 
 
Certain categories of financial assets, such as loans, that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. In  
assessing collective impairment, the Credit Union considers historical experience on similar 
assets in similar economic conditions. 
 
Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are measured as the difference 
between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of loans, which is reduced through the use of allowance accounts. Impairment losses 
are recognized in profit and loss. 

 
When an AFS financial asset is considered impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the year. 
 
With the exception of AFS equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed through profit and loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the instrument at the 
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had 
the impairment not been recognized. Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired 
AFS equity instrument is recognized in other comprehensive income. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid securities with an original maturity 
of less than or equal to three months. They are subject to insignificant risk of changes in fair 
value and are used to manage short-term cash commitments.  Cash and cash equivalents are 
classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortized cost on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. 
 

Investments 

 
Investments are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of investment securities not at 
FVTPL, incremental transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for depending on their 
classification as either HTM, loans and receivables or AFS financial assets. 
 

Loans 

 

Loans are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs, and subsequently at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. All loans are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market and have been classified as loans and receivables.  
 
The Credit Union establishes an allowance for impairment which is reviewed at least annually. 
The allowance is comprised of two parts - an individual allowance component and a collective 
allowance component, calculated as follows: 
 
a) The Credit Union records a specific individual allowance based on management’s regular 

review and evaluation of individual loans and is based upon management’s best estimate of 
the present value of the cash flows expected to be received, discounted at the loan’s 
original effective interest rate. As a practical expedient, impairment may be measured on 
the basis of the instrument’s fair value using an observable market price. The calculation of 
the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralized financial asset 
reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure, less costs for obtaining and selling 
the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Loans (continued) 
 

b) The Credit Union records a collective allowance for loans with similar credit risk 
characteristics, that have not been individually assessed as impaired, when objective 
evidence of impairment within the groups of loans exists but the individually impaired 
loans cannot be identified. In assessing the need for collective allowances, management 
considers factors such as credit quality and portfolio size. The Credit Union estimates the 
collective allowance for impairment using a formula based on its historical loss experience 
for similar groups of loans in similar economic circumstances. As management identifies 
individually impaired loans, it assigns an individual allowance for impairment to that loan 
and adjusts the collective allowance accordingly. 

 
c) If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 

can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, 
the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed either directly or by adjusting an 
allowance account. Write offs are generally recorded after all reasonable restructuring or 
collection efforts have taken place and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

 

Assets Held-for-Sale 

 

Assets are considered held-for-sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is met only when 
the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to be completed within 
one year from the date of classification. 
 
Assets classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying amount 
and fair value less cost to sell. 
 
Property and Equipment 

 
Property and equipment are reported at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognized in profit and loss and is calculated using the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related asset as follows (with the 
exception of land, which is not depreciated): 
 

Facilities           10 - 40 years 
Computer hardware   4 - 8 years 
Furniture and equipment   5 years 
Automotive    5 years 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Property and Equipment (continued) 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed annually and 
adjusted if appropriate. 

 
Gains and losses on the disposal or retirement of property and equipment are determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recorded in 
profit or loss in the year of disposal or retirement. 

 

Intangible Assets 

 
Specified intangible assets are recognized and reported separately from goodwill. Finite life 
intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Indefinite life intangible assets are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful life of the asset as 
follows: 
 

Computer software   2 - 10 years 
Naming rights    40 years 

 
Amortization is included in general business expense in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. The estimated useful lives and amortization methods are reviewed 
annually and adjusted if appropriate. Gains and losses on the disposal of intangible assets are 
recorded in profit or loss in the year of disposal. 
 

Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets other than Goodwill 

 

Annually, the Credit Union reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates the recoverable amount 
of a group of assets (or CGU) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent 
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Impairment of Tangible and Intangible Assets other than Goodwill (continued) 
 
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In 
assessing value in use, the Credit Union estimates future cash flows it expects to derive from 
the asset or group of assets along with expectations about possible variations in the amount and 
timing of those cash flows. The estimated cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. 

 
If the recoverable amount of a CGU is estimated to be less than the carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset or assets within a CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. The increased carrying amount will 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Goodwill 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the fair value of consideration given over the Credit 
Union’s proportionate share of the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business 
acquired as at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. 
 
Goodwill is not amortized but reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Credit Union’s CGU’s that are expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the related business combination.  

 
If the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and then reduces 
the carrying amount of the other assets of the CGU on a pro rata basis. An impairment loss for 
goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is 
not reversed in subsequent periods. 
 
Transaction costs incurred in a business combination, other than those associated with the 
source of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Income Taxes 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Current and deferred income 
taxes are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognized 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income. 
 
Current income tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to temporary differences between financial statement carrying amounts and 
amounts used for taxation purposes. These amounts are measured using enacted or 
substantively enacted tax rates at the reporting date and re-measured annually for rate changes. 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for the benefit of the deductions available to be 
carried forward to future periods for tax purposes to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. Any effect of the re-measurement 
or re-assessment is recognized in the year of change, except when they relate to items 
recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 
 
Deferred income taxes are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities against current tax assets, and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but the Credit Union 
intends to settle its current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or simultaneously. 
 
Leases 

 

Leases are classified as financial leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 
 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the amount of 
the Credit Union’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
years so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Credit Union’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Revenue Recognition 

 
Loan Interest Income 

 
Loan interest income is recognized on an accrual basis in profit and loss using the effective 
interest method. 
 
Once a loan is written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognized 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. 
 
Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the financial instrument, including 
loan origination, commitment, restructuring and renegotiation fees, are capitalized as part of the 
related asset and amortized to interest income over the term of the loan using the effective 
interest method. 
 
Investment Interest Income 

 
Investment interest income is recognized on the accrual basis using the effective interest 
method. Purchase premiums and discounts are amortized using the effective interest method 
over the term to maturity of the applicable investment. 
 

Other Income 
 

Other revenue is recognized in the fiscal year in which the related service is provided. 
 

Membership Equity 

 
Membership shares are classified as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position in accordance with their terms. All shares are redeemable at the option of the 
member after one year from the request of membership withdrawal. 

 
Foreign Currency Translation 

 

Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into their Canadian dollar 
equivalents at exchange rates prevailing at the transaction date. Carrying values of monetary 
assets and liabilities reflect the exchange rates at the reporting date. Carrying values of non-
monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost reflect the exchange 
rates at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair 
value are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined. 
 
Translation gains and losses are included in profit or loss, except for AFS equity instruments 
which are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Employee Future Benefits 

 

The Credit Union’s employee future benefit program consists of a defined contribution pension 
plan. A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Credit 
Union pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Credit Union has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the plan does not hold sufficient assets to 
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 
 
Credit Union contributions to the defined contribution plan are expensed as incurred. Pension 
benefits of $1,416,085 (2015 - $1,388,604) were paid to defined contribution retirement plans 
during the year. 
 

Future Accounting Changes 

 
At December 31, 2016, a number of standards and interpretations, and amendments thereto 
have been issued by the IASB, which are not effective for these consolidated financial 
statements.  Those which could have an impact on the Credit Union’s consolidated financial 
statements are discussed below. 
 
Financial Instruments 

 

Key requirements of IFRS 9: 

 
All recognized financial assets that are within the scope of IAS 39 are required to be 
subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value.  Specifically, debt investments that are 
held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that 
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
outstanding are generally measured at amortized cost at the end of subsequent accounting 
periods.  All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at 
the end of subsequent accounting periods.  In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an 
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity instrument (that 
is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally 
recognized in profit or loss. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Future Accounting Changes (continued) 
 

For impairment measurement IAS 39 requires an incurred loss model which delays recognition 
of credit losses until there is a trigger event.  IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model 
where the Credit Union will base its measurement of expected credit losses on reasonable and 
supportable information.  This will affect the measurement of the individual and collective 
allowances at the Credit Union. 
 
The effective date of IFRS 9 is for fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The 
Credit Union is currently assessing what impact the application of IFRS 9 will have on amounts 
reported in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

 
IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, specifies how an entity will recognize 
revenue from contracts with customers as well as additional disclosure requirements. It 
provides a five-step process for revenue recognition and is effective for periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018. Early adoption of this standard is also permitted but would be subject to 
regulatory approval by CUDGC.  The standard does not apply to financial instruments as these 
currently fall under IAS 39 and in the future under IFRS 9 above.  The Credit Union is 
currently evaluating the impact of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Leases 
 
The IASB has published a new standard, IFRS 16, Leases (IFRS 16). The new standard brings 
most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction 
between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting has remained largely unchanged. 
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, Leases and related Interpretations and is effective for periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Credit Union is currently evaluating the impact of 
the new standard on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
The Credit Union did not early adopt any new or amended standards in 2016. 
 

 
4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
2016 2015

Cash on hand and balances with SaskCentral $ 23,387,143          $ 52,594,980          
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5. INVESTMENTS 

 
2016 2015

Loans and Receivables

Concentra Overnight $ 27,667,950      $ 18,594,005         
Total loans and receivables investments 27,667,950      18,594,005         

Available-for-Sale

SaskCentral-Liquidity Pool 190,484,031    183,889,407       
SaskCentral-Shares 14,500,000      12,751,080         
Other 11,218,685      12,847,267         
Accrued Interest 399,193           585,463             

Total available-for-sale investments 216,601,909    210,073,217       

Held-to-Maturity

Concentra Financial 93,764,620      56,911,600         
Accrued Interest 85,610             103,089             

Total held-to-maturity investments 93,850,230      57,014,689         
Total Investments $ 338,120,089    $ 285,681,911       

Pursuant to Regulation 18(1)(a), Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (“SaskCentral”) 
requires that the Credit Union maintain 10% of its liabilities using a prescribed formula in 
specified liquidity deposits in SaskCentral.  The regulator of Saskatchewan Credit Unions, 
CUDGC, requires that the Credit Union adhere to these prescribed limits and restrictions.  As 
of December 31, 2016, the Credit Union met this requirement. 
 
The shares held in SaskCentral are carried at cost because a quoted price in an active market is 
not available and the fair value cannot be reliably measured. 
 
At December 31, 2016, $94,000,000 (2015 - $86,565,830) of investments mature more than 12 
months after the reporting date. 
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6. LOANS 

  

 

2016

Performing Impaired Individual Collective Net

Agriculture $ 407,028,236       $ -                    $ -                    $ 414                $ 407,027,822       

Commercial 565,391,393       2,036,945       597,813          229,759          566,600,766       

Consumer 893,212,266       1,467,547       881,566          679,310          893,118,937       

Finance Leases 24,158,351         -                    -                    -                    24,158,351         

Foreclosed Property -                        315,693          -                    -                    315,693             

Accrued Interest 6,934,925          373,907          -                    -                    7,308,832          

Total Loans $ 1,896,725,171    $ 4,194,092       $ 1,479,379       $ 909,483          $ 1,898,530,401    

2015

Performing Impaired Individual Collective Net

Agriculture $ 336,108,066       $ 2,879             $ 2,896             $ -                    $ 336,108,049       
Commercial 568,717,751       2,001,552       929,702          142,169          569,647,432       
Consumer 834,580,825       1,638,557       1,145,406       528,898          834,545,078       
Finance Leases 19,498,239         -                    -                    -                    19,498,239         
Foreclosed Property -                        258,324          -                    -                    258,324             
Accrued Interest 6,272,592          262,642          -                    -                    6,535,234          
Total Loans $ 1,765,177,473    $ 4,163,954       $ 2,078,004       $ 671,067          $ 1,766,592,356    

Allowances

Allowances

 
  

 Allowance for Impaired Loans 

 

Individual Collective Individual Collective

Balance, beginning of year $ 2,078,004     $ 671,067        2,885,226     $ 298,004        
Impairment loss 800,621        238,416        157,881        373,063        
Amounts written-off (1,399,246)    -                  (965,103)       -                  
Balance, end of year $ 1,479,379     $ 909,483        2,078,004     $ 671,067        

20152016
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6. LOANS (continued) 
 

Allowance for Impaired Loans (continued) 
 
The aging of loans, including those that were past due but not impaired and those that were 
individually impaired, as at December 31, 2016 was: 

 

Performing Impaired Performing Impaired
Current $ 1,854,558,187 $ 56,739        $ 1,749,967,132     $ 393,957        
31-60 days 4,249,613        176,790      4,586,701           69,570          
61-90 days 2,283,353        78,991        956,322             127,452        
91 -120 days 13,822,760      72,189        1,431,224           29,481          
120+ days 14,876,333      3,435,476   1,963,502           3,280,852     
Accrued interest 6,934,925        373,907      6,272,592           262,642        
Total $ 1,896,725,171 $ 4,194,092   $ 1,765,177,473     $ 4,163,954     

20152016

The Credit Union holds collateral against loans to customers in the form of interests over 
property, other securities over assets, and guarantees. 

 
During the year, the Credit Union obtained residential property and commercial property with 
carrying values of $315,693 and $Nil (2015 - $258,324 and $Nil) by taking possession of 
collateral held as security.  Foreclosed property is sold as soon as practicable, with the proceeds 
used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness.  Foreclosed property is classified as assets held for 
sale and is included within loans in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
 

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Land Facilities

Computer 

Hardware

Furniture & 

Equipment Automotive Total

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 1,610,396   $ 33,214,177    $ 10,819,802    $ 8,856,096     $ 851,030       $ 55,351,501    
Additions -                578,931        347,040        137,327       101,030       1,164,328     
Disposals (51,532)      (289,806)       (14,293)        (5,417,186)   (94,626)       (5,867,443)    

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 1,558,864 $ 33,503,302 $ 11,152,549 $ 3,576,237  $ 857,434     $ 50,648,386 

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ -                $ 15,622,965    $ 8,783,866     $ 8,613,266     $ 311,026       $ 33,331,123    
Depreciation expense -                1,462,243     627,847        130,735       155,651       2,376,476     
Disposals -                (260,052)       (7,372)          (5,417,186)   (74,000)       (5,758,610)    

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ -                $ 16,825,156 $ 9,404,341   $ 3,326,815  $ 392,677     $ 29,948,989 

Net Book Value

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 1,558,864 $ 16,678,146 $ 1,748,208   $ 249,422     $ 464,757     $ 20,699,397 

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 1,610,396   $ 17,591,212    $ 2,035,936     $ 242,830       $ 540,004       $ 22,020,378    
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8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Naming

Goodwill Software Rights Total

Cost

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ 5,091,190     $ 6,180,506     $ 1,500,000     $ 12,771,696    
Additions -                  110,378        -                  110,378        
Disposals -                  -                  -                  -                  

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 5,091,190   $ 6,290,884   $ 1,500,000   $ 12,882,074 

Amortization and

impairment losses

Balance at January 1, 2016 $ -                  $ 4,781,176     $ 212,500        $ 4,993,676     
Amortization expense -                  471,906        37,500          509,406        
Disposals -                  -                  -                  -                  

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ -                  $ 5,253,082   $ 250,000      $ 5,503,082   

Carrying Value

Balance at December 31, 2016 $ 5,091,190   $ 1,037,802   $ 1,250,000   $ 7,378,992   

Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 5,091,190     $ 1,399,330     $ 1,287,500     $ 7,778,020     

Intangible Assets

 

 

9. DEPOSITS 

 

2016 2015

Operating and Savings $ 1,384,695,185     $ 1,362,996,602        
TFSA's 84,522,822          76,188,539            
Term Deposits 319,265,072        255,008,606           
RRSP's 108,258,209        105,102,937           
RRIF's 42,777,168          41,740,775            
Interest Payable 4,976,890            4,475,017              
Balance, end of year $ 1,944,495,346     $ 1,845,512,476        

At December 31, 2016, $207,108,101 (2015 - $203,017,421) of deposits are expected to be 
settled more than 12 months after the reporting date. 
 



INNOVATION CREDIT UNION 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

  26 

10. LOANS PAYABLE 

 
The Credit Union has an authorized line of credit bearing interest at prime less 0.50% in the 
amount of $29,700,000 (CDN) with SaskCentral.  The Credit Union also has an authorized line 
of credit bearing interest at prime plus 0.50% in the amount of $500,000 (USD) with 
SaskCentral.  At December 31, 2016, the Credit Union had $Nil (2015 - $Nil) drawn on these 
lines of credit. 
 
The Credit Union has an authorized demand loan with Concentra Financial of $40,000,000 with 
a balance outstanding of $Nil (2015 - $Nil) bearing interest at 1 month CDOR rate plus 2.50% 
and an annual standby fee of 0.15%. 
 
The Credit Union has an authorized demand loan of $9,000,000 with SaskCentral with a 
balance outstanding of $Nil (2015 - $Nil) bearing interest at 1 month Banker’s Acceptance rate 
plus 0.375%. 
 
The Credit Union has an authorized demand loan with Desjardin of $50,000,000 with a balance 
outstanding of $Nil (2015 - $Nil) bearing interest Desjardin’s internal cost of funds plus 0.85% 
and an annual standby fee of 0.175%.   
 
These loans are secured by an assignment of book debts, residential mortgages and accounts 
receivable, a financial services agreement and operating account agreement. 

 

11. SECURITIZED BORROWINGS 

 
The Credit Union transferred portfolios of insured residential mortgages to a qualifying SPE 
under the Mortgage-Backed Securities Program but has retained substantially all of the credit 
risk associated with the transferred assets. At December 31, 2016, the carrying value of the 
residential mortgage loans, including accrued interest is $136,751,061 (2015 - $93,055,690). 
Due to retention of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of these assets, the 
Credit Union continues to recognize them within loans on the consolidated statement of 
financial position, and the transfers are accounted for as secured financing transactions. The 
associated liability of $135,792,856 (2015 - $92,396,271), secured by these assets, is included 
in securitized borrowings on the consolidated statement of financial position and is carried at 
amortized cost. 
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12. OTHER INCOME 

2016 2015
Restated (Note 20)

Service charges on products 1,834,919             2,185,546             
Loan fees, commissions and insurance 5,295,574             4,877,071             
Other fees and commissions 4,772,243             4,573,350             
Wealth management 2,970,696             2,571,589             
Insurance agencies 4,584,960             4,405,736             
Other  1,601,906             1,415,215             

$ 21,060,298           $ 20,028,507           
 

 
13. MEMBERSHIP SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

Membership shares are as provided for by The Credit Union Act and administered according to 
the terms of Policy 1000.02 which sets out the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions. 
 
The authorized share capital is unlimited in amount and consists of fully paid shares with a par 
value of $5 per share. Prior to 1998, the Act allowed membership shares to be held jointly. The 
Act now requires each member to have a separate membership share. Those in place prior to 
1998 were grandfathered Member share accounts and are not guaranteed by CUDGC. 
Characteristics include permanence, freedom from mandatory charge and subordination to the 
rights of creditors and depositors. 

 

Membership equity is comprised of the following: 
2016 2015

Membership shares $ 250,920      $ 238,255        
Membership equity 19,052,832 17,347,967    

$ 19,303,752 $ 17,586,222    

The Board of Directors declared total member distributions in the amount of $3,380,000 (2015 
- $3,260,000) based on 2016 earnings.  The member distributions approved by the Board of 
Directors were based on the balance of active member equity accounts, members under the age 
of 18 as of December 31, 2016, loan interest paid and deposit interest earned by each member 
during the fiscal year (excluding credit cards, dealer finance loans, and registered product 
deposits).  The member distributions of $3,380,000 (2015 - $3,260,000) are reported on the 
consolidated statement of financial position as follows:  $810,000 (2015 - $978,000) is included 
in accounts payable of which approximately $760,000 (2015 - $694,000) will be distributed as 
a 4.6% (2015 – 4.6%) cash dividend and approximately $50,000 (2015 - $40,000) will be 
distributed as a youth cash dividend as approved by the board; an estimated $2,570,000 (2015 - 
$2,282,000) will be retained in the membership equity. 
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14. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
CUDGC prescribes capital adequacy measures and minimum capital requirements. The capital 
adequacy rules issued by CUDGC have been based on the Basel III framework, consistent with 
the financial industry in general.  CUDGC’s Standards of Sound Business Practice (SSBP) that 
incorporate the Basel III framework took effect on July 1, 2013. 
 
The Credit Union follows a risk-weighted asset calculation for credit and operational risk.  
Under this approach, credit unions are required to measure capital adequacy in accordance with 
instructions for determining risk-adjusted capital and risk-weighted assets, including off-
balance sheet commitments.  Based on the prescribed risk of each type of asset, a weighting of 
0% to 250% is assigned. The ratio of regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets is calculated and 
compared to the standard outlined by CUDGC.  Regulatory standards require credit unions to 
maintain a minimum total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets of 10.5%, a minimum total 
tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of 8.5% and a minimum common equity tier 1 capital to 
risk-weighted assets of 7%.  Eligible capital consists of total tier 1 and tier 2 capital. 

 
Tier 1 capital is defined as a credit union’s primary capital and comprises the highest quality of 
capital elements while tier 2 is secondary capital and falls short of meeting tier 1 requirements 
for permanence or freedom from mandatory charges.  Tier 1 capital consists of two 
components:  common equity and additional tier 1 capital. Common equity includes retained 
earnings, contributed surplus and accumulated other comprehensive income.  Deductions from 
common equity tier 1 capital include goodwill, intangible assets, deferred tax assets (except 
those arising from temporary differences), increases in equity capital resulting from 
securitization transactions, unconsolidated substantial investments and fair value gains/losses 
on own-use property.  Additional tier 1 capital consists of qualifying membership shares and 
other investment shares issued by the Credit Union that meet the criteria for inclusion in 
additional tier 1 capital.  
 
Tier 2 capital includes a collective allowance for credit losses to a maximum of 1.25% of risk-
weighted assets, subordinated indebtedness, and qualifying membership shares or other 
investment shares issued by the Credit Union that meet the criteria for inclusion in tier 2 capital 
and are not included in tier 1 capital.   
 
Regulatory standards also require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum leverage ratio of 5%.  
This ratio is calculated by dividing eligible capital by total assets less deductions from capital 
plus specified off-balance sheet exposures.  Based on the type of off-balance sheet exposure, a 
conversion factor is applied to the leverage ratio.  All items deducted from capital are excluded 
from total assets.  The Credit Union may also exclude from total assets mortgages securitized 
through Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporate (CMHC) programs up to and including 
March 31, 2010 and all existing and future reinvestments related to Canada Mortgage Bonds 
(CMB) Insured Mortgage Purchase Program transactions completed up to and including 
March 31, 2010.   
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14. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
The Credit Union has adopted a capital plan that conforms to the capital framework and is 
regularly reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors.  The following table compares 
CUDGC regulatory standards to the Credit Union’s Board policy for 2016: 
 

Regulatory Innovation

Minimum Policy Target

Common Equity/Total Risk 
Weighted Assets 7.00% 8.54%

Tier 1 Capital/Total Risk 
Weighted Assets 8.50% 10.37%

Total Eligible Capital/Total Risk 
Weighted Assets 10.50% 12.81%

Leverage Test 5.00% 6.10%
 

 
During the year, the Credit Union complied with all external capital requirements. Non-
compliance may result in CUDGC taking necessary action including reducing or restricting 
authorities and limits of the Credit Union, imposing a higher deductible on any insured losses 
paid by the master bond fund, imposing preventive intervention, issuing a compliance order, or 
placing the Credit Union under supervision or administration. 
 
The following table summarizes key capital information: 
 

Capital Summary

2016

2015
Restated (Note 20)

Eligible Capital
  Common Equity Tier 1 Capital $ 173,485,003         $ 156,482,843         
  Additional Tier 1 Capital -                          -                          
  Total Tier 1 Capital 173,485,003         156,482,843         
  Total Tier 2 Capital 20,288,198           18,296,198           
Total eligible capital $ 193,773,201         $ 174,779,041         

Risk-weighted assets $ 1,524,018,722       $ 1,379,797,671       
Leverage assets 2,333,310,890       2,169,529,244       

Common equity Tier 1 to risk weighted assets 11.38% 11.34%
Total Tier 1 to risk weighted assets 11.38% 11.34%
Total eligible capital to risk weighted assets 12.71% 12.67%
Total eligible capital to leveraged assets 8.30% 8.06%
 
 
 



INNOVATION CREDIT UNION 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

  30 

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

Related parties exist when one party has the ability to directly or indirectly exercise control, 
joint control or significant influence over the other or is a member, or close family of a 
member, of the key management personnel of the Credit Union. Related party transactions are 
in the normal course of operations and are measured at the consideration established and agreed 
to by the parties. 
 

Loans Receivable 

 

At December 31, 2016, certain directors, senior management and their spouses, children and 
dependents were indebted to the Credit Union for an amount totaling $4,481,262 
(2015 - $4,817,471).  The loans to the directors were granted under the same lending policies 
applicable to other members. Certain management loans qualify for the staff lending program at 
preferential rates. These loans have been recorded at amortized cost with the discount 
amortized using the effective interest method. Director and management loans are included in 
loans on the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
There were no loans forgiven or written down during the year with related parties. 

 

Deposit Accounts 

 

As of December 31, 2016, certain directors, senior management and their spouses and 
dependents had deposits at the Credit Union for an amount totaling $2,535,655 
(2015 -$3,223,218). 
 
Directors and other key management personnel may hold deposit accounts. These accounts are 
maintained under the same terms and conditions as accounts of other members, and are 
included in deposits on the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

Remuneration 

 

Compensation for directors and other key management personnel was comprised of: 
 
 

2016 2015

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits $ 2,420,248   $ 2,276,317     
Other long-term benefits 102,542      93,043          

$ 2,522,790   $ 2,369,360     
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16. CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The following tables summarize the classification of the Credit Union’s financial instruments: 

 

Held-for-

Trading

Held-to-

Maturity

Loans and 

Receivables

Available-for-

Sale

Other 

Amortized Cost

 Total Carrying 

Value 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ -                      $ -                      $ 23,387,143       $ -                      $ -                          $ 23,387,143        

Investments -                      93,850,230    27,667,950       216,601,909 -                          338,120,089      

Loans -                      -                      1,898,530,401  -                      -                          1,898,530,401   

Accounts receivable -                      -                      4,048,612          -                      -                          4,048,612           

Derivative assets 1,703,187      -                      -                          -                      -                          1,703,187           

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits -                      -                      -                          -                      1,944,495,346  1,944,495,346   

Securitized borrowings -                      -                      -                          -                      135,792,856     135,792,856      

Accounts payable -                      -                      -                          -                      14,928,385       14,928,385        

Derivative liabilities 1,979,012      -                      -                          -                      -                          1,979,012           

Membership shares 
     and distributions -                      -                      -                          -                      19,303,752       19,303,752        

2016

Held-for-

Trading

Held-to-

Maturity

Loans and 

Receivables

Available-for-

Sale

Other 

Amortized Cost

 Total Carrying 

Value 
Restated 

(Note 20)

Restated 

(Note 20)

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ -                      $ -                     $ 52,594,980           $ -                          $ -                           $ 52,594,980         
Investments -                      57,014,689  18,594,005           210,073,217     -                           285,681,911      
Loans -                      -                     1,766,592,356     -                           1,766,592,356   
Accounts receivable -                      -                     3,988,583             -                          -                           3,988,583           
Derivative assets 528,938         -                     -                             -                          -                           528,938              

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Deposits -                      -                     -                             -                          1,845,512,476   1,845,512,476   
Securitized borrowings -                      -                     -                             -                          92,396,271        92,396,271         
Accounts payable -                      -                     -                             -                          19,073,057        19,073,057         
Derivative liabilities 3,599,534      -                     -                             -                          -                           3,599,534           
Membership shares 
     and distributions -                      -                     -                             -                          17,586,222        17,586,222         

2015

 
Fair values represent estimates of value at a particular point in time and may not be relevant in 
predicting future cash flows or income.  Estimates respecting fair values are based on 
subjective assumptions and contain significant uncertainty.  Potential income taxes or other 
expenses that may be incurred on actual disposition have not been reflected in the fair values 
disclosed. 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate fair values of financial 
instruments: 
 
The stated values for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
membership equity approximated their fair values. 
 
Estimated fair values of investments are based on inputs other than quoted market prices in 
active markets. 
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16. CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
For variable interest rate loans that re-price frequently, stated values are assumed to be fair 
values.  Fair values of other loans are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations with 
market interest rates for similar groups of loans to expected maturity amounts. 
 
Fair value of deposits without a specified maturity term is the stated value.  Fair value for other 
deposits is estimated using discounted cash flow calculations at market rates for similar 
deposits. 
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is estimated by referring to the appropriate 
current market yields with matching terms to maturity.  These instruments have been valued 
assuming they will not be sold, using present value or other techniques, and are not necessarily 
representative of the amounts realizable in an immediate settlement of the instrument. 
 
Fair value of the securitized borrowing is estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation at 
the interest rate payable for the loans to which it relates. 
 
The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based on the 
government treasury bill rates for investments with maturities less than a year and government 
bond rates for longer-term investments.  Loan discount rates are based on the Credit Union’s 
best consumer rate plus an adequate credit spread.  These are as follows: 
 

2016 2015

Investments 0.45% - 1.13% 0.47% - 0.73%
Loans 2.94% - 4.74% 2.94% - 4.84%
Deposits 0.00% - 1.45% 0.28% - 1.90%

 
The fair value of the financial instruments and their related carrying values have been 
summarized and included in the table below.  For financial instruments that have been 
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position, the amount of the fair 
value calculated using each level of the fair value hierarchy has been disclosed. 
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16. CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

Stated Fair Level Level 
Value Value 1 2

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investments 338,120,089            338,120,089          -                  338,120,089    
Loans 1,898,530,400         1,842,663,857       -                  1,842,663,857 
Derivative assets 1,703,187                1,703,187             -                  1,703,187        

$ 2,238,353,676         $ 2,182,487,133       $ -                  $ 2,182,487,133 

FINANCIAL 

LIABILITIES

Deposits $ 1,944,495,346         $ 1,940,893,046       $ -                  $ 1,940,893,046 
Securitized borrowings 135,792,856            135,792,856          -                  135,792,856    
Derivative liabilities 1,979,012                1,979,012             -                  1,979,012        

$ 2,082,267,214         $ 2,078,664,914       $ -                  $ 2,078,664,914 

2016

 

Stated Fair Level Level 
Value Value 1 2

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investments 285,681,911            285,681,911            -                  $ 285,681,911      
Loans 1,766,592,356         1,707,495,546         -                  1,707,495,546   
Derivative assets 528,938                  528,938                  -                  528,938            

$ 2,052,803,205         $ 1,993,706,395         $ -                  $ 1,993,706,395   

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES
Deposits $ 1,845,512,476         $ 1,813,009,539         $ -                  $ 1,813,009,539   
Securitized borrowings 92,396,271              92,396,271              -                  92,396,271        
Derivative liabilities 3,599,534               3,599,534               -                  3,599,534         

$ 1,941,508,281         $ 1,909,005,344         $ -                  $ 1,909,005,344   

2015

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the period and there are no assets or 
liabilities measured using Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
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16. CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
 
Net impairment losses recognized on each class of financial asset were: 
 

2016 2015

Loans and receivables $ 1,039,037   $ 530,944         

 
 

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Credit Union is exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: 
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The following is a description of these risks and how 
the Credit Union manages its exposure to them. 
 

Credit Risk 

 
The business of the Credit Union necessitates the management of credit risk. Credit risk arises 
from a counterparty’s inability or unwillingness to fulfill its payment obligations. Credit risk 
may arise from principal and interest amounts on loans.  
 
The Board of Directors of the Credit Union oversees the risk management process. In addition, 
CUDGC establishes standards with which the Credit Union must comply. Senior management 
coordinates policy setting on risk management issues, assesses the risk exposure of the Credit 
Union and reviews the effectiveness of internal control processes. 
 
The Credit Union uses a disciplined lending approach with standard underwriting parameters 
for each category of loans. These parameters are used to assist the Credit Union in 
implementing a prudent and effective credit granting process to assess the borrower’s ability to 
repay. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Credit Risk (continued) 
 

The Credit Union also mitigates credit risk by obtaining quality collateral. The Credit Union 
considers collateral to be of good quality if it can determine the legal validity and market value 
on an ongoing basis. The Credit Union’s internal policy provides additional information 
regarding the appropriate collateral based on the category of loan. Types of collateral generally 
obtained by the Credit Union are, but are not limited to, real and non-real property by way of 
mortgages and security agreements. 
 
In addition, the Credit Union monitors its loan concentration to ensure that it is in compliance 
with its policies. 
 
Credit risk also may arise from principal and interest amounts on investments. The Credit 
Union manages credit risk through adherence to internal policies and procedures for the 
acquisition of investments. Safety of principal is accomplished by ensuring that all investments 
purchased are reasonable and prudent. Investment decisions are made with due diligence to 
avoid undue risk of loss while obtaining a reasonable return. 

 
The Credit Union’s investment portfolio excluding accrued interest is as follows: 
 

2016 2015

SaskCentral and Concentra Financial $ 326,416,601 272,146,092   
Unrated 11,218,685   12,847,267     

$ 337,635,286 $ 284,993,359   

At December 31, 2016, the Credit Union does not hold any credit derivative financial 
instruments (2015 - $Nil). The Credit Union is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-
performance by counterparties to its derivative financial instruments, but does not anticipate 
non-performance by any of the counterparties. Management monitors the credit risk and credit 
standing of counterparties on a regular basis. 
 
In addition, in the normal course of business the Credit Union has entered into various 
commitments to extend credit that may not be reported on the consolidated statement of 
financial position, as well as guarantees and standby letters of credit. The primary purpose of 
these contracts is to make funds available for the financing needs of customers. These are 
subject to normal credit standards, financial controls, risk management and monitoring 
procedures. 
 
 



INNOVATION CREDIT UNION 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

  36 

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Credit Risk (continued) 
 

Guarantees and standby letters of credit represent irrevocable commitments that the Credit 
Union will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third 
parties, and they carry the same risk, recourse and collateral security requirements as loans 
extended to customers. Documentary and commercial letters of credit are instruments issued on 
behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Credit Union up to a 
stipulated amount subject to specific terms and conditions. The Credit Union is at risk for any 
drafts drawn that are not ultimately settled by the customer and the amounts are collateralized 
by the goods to which they relate. 

 

Commitments to extend credit represent unutilized portions of authorizations to extend credit in 
the form of loans, bankers’ acceptances or letters of credit. 
 
The unused portion of authorized loans and lines of credit and from standby letters of credit 
totals $360,553,681 (2015 - $342,776,921). This amount does not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements since many commitments will expire or terminate without being funded. 

 
Liquidity Risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union is unable to generate or obtain the necessary cash 
or cash equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable price, to meet its financial commitments 
as they come due. 
 
The Credit Union’s objective is to implement a policy that addresses limits on the sources, 
quality and amount of assets to meet normal operational, contingency funding for significant 
deposit withdrawals and regulatory requirements. 
 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the liquidity risk management policy. 
Management reports to the Board quarterly on the Credit Union’s compliance with the policy. 
In addition, CUDGC establishes standards to which the Credit Union must comply. 
 
The Credit Union enters into transactions to purchase goods and services on credit and to 
borrow funds from SaskCentral, Concentra or Desjardin, for which repayment is required at 
various maturity dates. Liquidity is measured by reviewing the Credit Union’s future net cash 
flows for the possibility of a negative net cash flow. 
 
The Credit Union manages the liquidity risk resulting from these transactions by investing in 
liquid assets such as money market term deposits and by entering into agreements to access 
loans as described in Note 10. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 
The following are the contractual maturities of the Credit Union’s derivative and non-derivative 
financial liabilities: 
 

2016

< 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3 + Years Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Deposits $ 1,737,387,245    $ 76,130,597      53,211,467     $ 77,766,037      $ 1,944,495,346    

Securitized borrowings -                        14,056,372      30,537,792     91,198,692      135,792,856       

Accounts payable 14,478,385         150,000          150,000          150,000          14,928,385         

Membership equity -                        -                     -                     19,303,752      19,303,752         

Total $ 1,751,865,630    $ 90,336,969      $ 83,899,259     $ 188,418,481    $ 2,114,520,339    

Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative liabilities $ 311,027              $ 412,413          $ 1,069,309       $ 186,263          $ 1,979,012           

2015
< 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3 + Years Total

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Deposits $ 1,642,495,055    $ 68,837,705      $ 57,213,190     $ 76,966,526      $ 1,845,512,476    
Securitized borrowings -                        -                     15,660,639     76,735,632      92,396,271         
Accounts payable 18,473,057         150,000          150,000          300,000          19,073,057         
Membership equity -                        -                     -                     17,586,222      17,586,222         
Total $ 1,660,968,112    $ 68,987,705      $ 73,023,829     $ 171,588,380    $ 1,974,568,026    

Derivative financial liabilities

Derivative liabilities $ 450,303              $ 483,986          $ 681,734          $ 1,983,511        $ 3,599,534           

 
Market Risk 

 
Market risk is the risk of loss in value of financial instruments that may arise from changes in 
market factors such as interest rates, foreign currency risk, equity prices and credit spreads. The 
Credit Union’s exposure changes depending on market conditions. The primary market risk that 
the Credit Union is exposed to is interest rate risk. 
 
The Credit Union uses different risk management processes to manage market risk. 
 
Market risk is managed in accordance with policies and procedures established by the Board of 
Directors. In addition, CUDGC establishes standards to which the Credit Union must comply. 
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
Market Risk (continued) 
 
Senior management is responsible for managing market risk in accordance with the Credit 
Union’s internal policy. Senior management reports monthly to the Board the Credit Union’s 
compliance with the policy and regulatory requirements and dollar volume and yields of all 
investments by investment category. All exceptions noted are to be reported to the Board. 
 
The Board is responsible for monitoring significant variances and to ensure that corrective 
measures are implemented. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the potential adverse impact on earnings due to changes in interest rates. The 
Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk arises due to the timing differences in the re-
pricing of assets and liabilities as well as due to financial assets and liabilities with fixed and 
floating rates.  
 
The Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk can be measured by the mismatch or gap, 
between the assets, liabilities and off-statement of financial position instruments scheduled to 
mature or re-price on particular dates. Gap analysis measures the difference between the 
amount of assets and liabilities that re-price in specific time periods. 
 
To manage exposure to interest rate fluctuations and to manage asset and liability mismatch, 
the Credit Union may enter into interest rate swaps. These minimize the interest rate risk and 
cash required to liquidate the contracts by entering into counter-balancing positions. The Credit 
Union used interest rate swaps in the current year. 
 
The table below summarizes the carrying amounts of financial instruments exposed to interest 
rate risk by the earlier of the contractual re-pricing/maturity dates. Re-pricing dates are based 
on the earlier of maturity or the contractual re-pricing date and effective interest rates, where 
applicable, representing the weighted average effective yield. 

 
 



INNOVATION CREDIT UNION 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

  39 

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Market Risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
On Demand Within 3 months

Over 3 months to 

1 year

Over 1 year to 5 

years Over 5 years

Non-interest 

sensitive 2016 Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents -$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            23,387,143$          23,387,143$                 
Investments 128,373,000          71,100,000            42,201,000            93,135,000            3,000,000              311,089                 338,120,089                 
Effective interest rate 0.65% 0.81% 1.29% 1.47% 4.22% -                              1.00%
Loans 887,015,000          43,708,000            139,538,000          778,721,000          38,205,000            11,343,401            1,898,530,401             
Effective interest rate 4.11% 4.96% 4.53% 3.70% 4.62% -                              4.00%
Accounts receivable -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              4,048,612              4,048,612                     

1,015,388,000      114,808,000          181,739,000          871,856,000          41,205,000            39,090,245            2,264,086,245             

LIABILITIES

Deposits 1,350,727,899      82,442,000            204,744,000          206,791,000          317,101                 99,473,346            1,944,495,346             
Effective interest rate 0.42% 1.80% 1.70% 2.14% 2.40% -                              0.82%
Securitized borrowings -                              1,098,000              3,504,000              131,190,856          -                              -                              135,792,856                 
Effective interest rate 1.84% 1.82% 1.84% 1.58%
Accounts payable -                              -                              -                              450,000                 -                              14,478,385            14,928,385                   
Membership equity -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              19,303,752            19,303,752                   

1,350,727,899      83,540,000            208,248,000          338,431,856          317,101                 133,255,483          2,114,520,339             

2016 Statement of 

Financial Position gap (335,339,899)$      31,268,000$          (26,509,000)$        533,424,144$       40,887,899$          (94,165,238)$        149,565,906$              

 

On Demand Within 3 months

Over 3 months to 

1 year

Over 1 year to 5 

years Over 5 years

Non-interest 

sensitive

Restated 

(Note 20)

2015 Total

Restated 

(Note 20)

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents -$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            -$                            52,594,980$          52,594,980$                 
Investments 121,082,359          50,400,000            22,600,000            87,411,000            3,500,000              688,552                 285,681,911                 
Effective interest rate 0.60% 0.75% 1.44% 1.68% 4.50% -                          1.07%
Loans 846,954,881          61,893,000            123,710,000          677,788,000          48,559,000            7,687,475              1,766,592,356             
Effective interest rate 4.15% 4.59% 4.68% 3.92% 5.10% -                          4.14%
Accounts receivable -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              3,988,583              3,988,583                     

968,037,240          112,293,000          146,310,000          765,199,000          52,059,000            64,959,590            2,108,857,830             

LIABILITIES

Deposits 867,602,218          72,001,195            143,706,293          202,852,464          164,957                 559,185,349          1,845,512,476             
Effective interest rate 0.62% 1.90% 1.70% 2.17% 1.90% -                          1.06%
Securitized borrowings -                              -                              -                              92,396,271            -                              -                              92,396,271                   
Effective interest rate -                          -                          -                          1.76% -                          -                          1.76%
Accounts payable -                              -                              -                              600,000                 -                              18,473,057            19,073,057                   
Membership equity -                              -                              -                              -                              -                              17,586,222            17,586,222                   

867,602,218          72,001,195            143,706,293          295,848,735          164,957                 595,244,628          1,974,568,026             

2015 Statement of 

Financial Position gap 100,435,022$       40,291,805$          2,603,707$            469,350,265$       51,894,043$          (530,285,038)$      134,289,804$              

The above tables do not identify management’s expectations of future events where re-pricing 
and maturity dates differ from contractual dates.   
 
 



INNOVATION CREDIT UNION 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

for the year ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

  40 

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Market Risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
The above table excludes interest rate swaps with aggregate notional amounts of $200,000,000 
(2015 - $225,000,000).  The Credit Union is exposed to interest rate sensitivity as changes in 
interest rates impact the amount of interest that will be received on the floating leg of the 
interest rate swaps.  The notional amounts and maturity dates are provided below. 

 
A 1.00% reduction in interest rates with all other variables held constant would result in a 
decrease in the Credit Union’s comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2016 of 
$3,241,500 (2015 - $3,757,100).  A 1.00% increase in interest rates with all other variables held 
constant would result in an increase in the Credit Union’s comprehensive income for the year 
ended December 31, 2016 of $4,417,800 (2015 - $1,768,200).  These changes are primarily due 
to changes in cash flows from variable rate assets and liabilities. 

 

The Credit Union uses both discrete and stochastic methods to simulate the effect of a change 
in the market rate of interest. The interest rate sensitivity information was prepared based on 
management’s assumption that approximately $120 million (2015 - $559 million) of deposits 
have little or no sensitivity to changes in general market rates and $228 million (2015 - $647 
million) respond with 75% of the move in prime. 

 
The Credit Union utilized interest rate swaps to reduce exposure to fluctuations in interest rates. 
These derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting. 
 

Notional 2016

Principal Paid Received Fair Value

$ 25,000,000      1.510% 90 Day CDOR $ (9,162)        January 24, 2017 January 24, 2014
25,000,000      2.010% 90 Day CDOR (407,210)    January 24, 2019 January 24, 2014
25,000,000      1.768% 90 Day CDOR (268,995)    August 27, 2018 August 27, 2014
25,000,000      1.905% 90 Day CDOR (424,068)    August 27, 2019 August 27, 2014
15,000,000      1.298% 90 Day CDOR 19,150       February 18, 2020 February 18, 2015
15,000,000      1.238% 90 Day CDOR 48,372       March 3, 2020 March 3, 2015
25,000,000      1.094% 90 Day CDOR 265,657     August 25, 2020 August 25, 2015
20,000,000      1.298% 90 Day CDOR 439,224     January 15, 2021 January 15, 2016
25,000,000      1.035% 90 Day CDOR 480,105     July 15, 2021 July 15, 2016

$ 200,000,000    $ 143,073     

Maturity Effective Date
Interest Rate
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17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

Market Risk (continued) 
 

Notional 2015
Principal Paid Received Fair Value

$ 20,000,000   1.382% 90 Day CDOR $ (41,297)        May 2, 2016 May 2, 2013
25,000,000   1.592% 90 Day CDOR (185,740)      November 29, 2016 November 29, 2013
25,000,000   1.303% 90 Day CDOR (7,375)         January 24, 2016 January 24, 2014
25,000,000   1.510% 90 Day CDOR (190,513)      January 24, 2017 January 24, 2014
25,000,000   2.010% 90 Day CDOR (740,503)      January 24, 2019 January 24, 2014
25,000,000   1.768% 90 Day CDOR (540,032)      August 27, 2018 August 27, 2014
25,000,000   1.905% 90 Day CDOR (756,068)      August 27, 2019 August 27, 2014
15,000,000   1.298% 90 Day CDOR (93,935)        February 18, 2020 February 18, 2015
15,000,000   1.238% 90 Day CDOR (58,377)        March 3, 2020 March 3, 2015
25,000,000   1.094% 90 Day CDOR 118,073       August 25, 2020 August 25, 2015

$ 225,000,000  $ (2,495,767)   

Maturity Effective Date
Interest Rate

Foreign currency risk 
 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Credit Union’s exposure to 
foreign currency risk arises due to members’ U.S. dollar deposits. In seeking to manage the 
risks from foreign exchange rate fluctuations, the Credit Union enters into U.S. dollar money 
market investments which protect against any adverse movements in the exchange rate. 

 

18. COMMITMENTS 

 
The Credit Union entered in a 3 year commitment with SaskTel for managed hosting services.  
The commitment is $300,000 payable in each of the next 3 years starting in 2017. 
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19. INCOME TAXES 

 

Income tax expense is comprised of: 
 

2016

2015 
Restated 
(Note 20)

Current income tax expense

Current period $ 5,496,359     $ 4,142,927     
Adjustments for prior periods 1,864           62,528          

5,498,223     4,205,455     
Deferred income tax recovery

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,273,992)    (1,624,647)    

Provision for income taxes $ 4,224,231     $ 2,580,808     

 
 

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting net income as follows: 
 

2016

2015
Restated 
(Note 20)

Income before provision for income taxes $ 22,074,462   $ 16,568,085      
Combined federal and provincial tax rate 27% 27%
Income tax expense at statutory rate 5,960,105     4,473,383        

Adjusted for effect of:
   Non-deductible expenses 41,268          (55,492)           
   Credit Union rate reduction (1,928,221)    (1,699,599)      
   Deferred income tax expense resulting from rate changes 215,071        (107,621)         
   Other (63,992)         (29,863)           

$ 4,224,231     $ 2,580,808        

Effective rate of tax 19.1% 15.6%

In 2013, federal legislation changed impacting the additional deduction for credit unions.  The 
change is being phased in from 2013 through 2017.  The previously enacted federal tax rate of 
11% in 2012 increased to 11.62% in 2013, 12.6% in 2014, 13.4% in 2015, 14.2% in 2016 and 
15% in 2017, for income eligible for the additional credit union deduction.  The provincial rate 
of 2% has not changed for income eligible for the additional credit union deduction. 
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19. INCOME TAXES (continued) 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities recognized are attributable to the following: 
 

2016 2015

Deferred income tax assets are comprised

of the following:

Loans and leases $ 263,068          $ 214,910          
Other comprehensive income 37,220           -                 
Other 243,512          313,780          
Premises and equipment 5,779,622       4,308,763       
Loss carryforwards 947,145          1,114,820       

$ 7,270,567       $ 5,952,273       

Deferred income tax liabilities are comprised

of the following:

Property and equipment $ 102,021          $ 95,377           
$ 102,021          $ 95,377           

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the 
realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.  The Credit 
Union recognized deferred income tax assets of $947,145 (2015 – $1,114,820) in respect of 
losses amounting to $3,507,945 (2015 - $4,128,963) that are carried forward against future 
taxable income.   The balances of these loss carryforwards will expire in the year 2026 
($2,251,851), 2027 ($356,349), 2028 ($445,367), 2029 ($389,278) and 2030 ($65,101). 
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20. RESTATEMENT OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL  

STATEMENTS  
 

 Previously revenues from certain profit sharing programs were recognized in the year the funds 
were received rather than the year the revenue was earned.  As a result, prior periods have been 
restated to correct this error. 

 
The impact of this restatement on the consolidated financial statements is as follows: 

 
 
  
 

Financial statement item

December 31, 

2015, as reported

$

December 31, 

2015, as restated

$

Investment revenue 4,954,507             5,009,989             
Other income 19,933,062           20,028,507           
Current tax provision 4,164,704             4,205,455             
Net income 13,877,101           13,987,277           
Income taxes payable 402,218                729,760                
Accounts receivable 1,790,759             3,988,583             
Retained earnings 158,682,370         160,552,652         

Financial statement item

January 1, 2015, 

as reported

$

January 1, 2015, 

as restated

$

Income taxes payable 987,163                1,273,954             
Accounts receivable 1,922,376             3,969,273             
Retained earnings 144,805,269         146,565,375         

Financial statement item

December 31, 

2014, as reported

$

December 31, 

2014, as restated

$

Net income 15,279,680           17,039,786           
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